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EXPLANATORY NOTE

On February 3, 2021, Jazz Pharmaceuticals Public Limited Company, an Ireland public limited company (“Jazz”), entered into a Transaction
Agreement (“Transaction Agreement”) with GW Pharmaceuticals plc, a public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and
Wales (“GW”), and Jazz Pharmaceuticals UK Holdings Limited, a private limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales and
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Jazz (“Bidco”), pursuant to which Bidco (and/or, at Bidco’s election, Bidco’s nominee(s)) acquired the
entire issued share capital of GW (the “Transaction”) on May 5, 2021 pursuant to a scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the United Kingdom
Companies Act 2006 (the “Scheme”).

On May 5, 2021, Jazz filed a Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Original Form 8-K”) reporting the closing of the Transaction. The Transaction
was conditioned on, among other things, the sanction of the Scheme by the High Court of Justice of England and Wales (the “Court”). On May 5,
2021, the Court issued an order sanctioning the Scheme. Upon the delivery of such order to the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales on
May 5, 2021, the Scheme became effective (the “Effective Time”). As a result, GW became an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Jazz. At the
Effective Time, the Scheme Shareholders (as defined in the Scheme) became entitled to receive for each Scheme Share (as defined in the Scheme)
held by them at such time an amount equal to $16.662/3 in cash plus 0.010030 ordinary shares (the “Share Deliverable”), nominal value $0.0001
per share, of Jazz (“Jazz Ordinary Shares”). In addition, because each American Depositary Share issued by Citibank, N.A., as depositary, in
respect of GW (“GW ADS”) represented a beneficial interest in 12 Scheme Shares held by such depositary, holders of GW ADSs became entitled
under such depositary arrangements to receive, for each GW ADS (1) an amount equal to $200 in cash (less (a) a $0.05 per GW ADS cancellation
fee, (b) a $0.05 per GW ADS distribution fee, (c) any other fees and expenses payable by such holders pursuant to the terms of the deposit
agreement, dated as of May 7, 2013 (as amended), by and among GW, Citibank, N.A., as depositary, and all holders and beneficial owners of GW
ADSs issued thereunder and (d) any applicable withholding taxes) and (2) an amount of Jazz Ordinary Shares equal to 12 times the Share
Deliverable. Scheme Shareholders and holders of GW ADSs became entitled to receive cash in lieu of any fractional Jazz Ordinary Shares to
which they would have otherwise been entitled to in accordance with the Scheme. In connection with the Transaction, 3,798,105 Jazz Ordinary
Shares were issued to such Scheme Shareholders.

This Current Report on Form 8-K/A amends the Original Form 8-K to provide the consolidated financial statements of GW as required under
Item 9.01(a) and the pro forma financial information required under Item 9.01(b).

 
Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.
 

 (a) Financial statements of business acquired.

The audited consolidated financial statements of GW as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for the years then ended, and the notes
related thereto, are filed as Exhibit 99.2 to this Current Report on Form 8-K/A and are incorporated herein by reference. The consent of
Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm of GW, is attached hereto as Exhibit 23.1 to this Current Report
on Form 8-K/A.

The unaudited consolidated financial statements of GW as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 and for the three months ended
March 31, 2021 and 2020, and the notes related thereto, are filed as Exhibit 99.3 to this Current Report on Form 8-K/A and are
incorporated herein by reference.

 
 (b) Pro forma financial information.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements of Jazz and GW as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021
and for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the notes related thereto, each giving effect to the Transaction, are included as Exhibit 99.4
to this Current Report on Form 8-K/A and are incorporated herein by reference.



 (d) Exhibits.
 
Exhibit No.  Description of Exhibit

2.1

 

Transaction Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2021, by and among Jazz Pharmaceuticals UK Holdings Limited, Jazz Pharmaceuticals
Public Limited Company and GW Pharmaceuticals plc (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 001-33500), as filed by Jazz with the SEC on February 4, 2021).*

10.1

 

Credit Agreement, dated as of May 5, 2021, by and among Jazz Pharmaceuticals Public Limited Company, the other borrowers from time
to time party thereto, the lenders and issuing banks from time to time party thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, and
U.S. Bank National Association, as collateral trustee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-33500), as filed by Jazz with the SEC on May 5, 2021). *

23.1  Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

99.1
 

Jazz Press Release dated as of May 5, 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-33500), as filed by Jazz with the SEC on May 5, 2021).

99.2
 

Audited consolidated financial statements of GW as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the notes related
thereto.

99.3
 

Unaudited consolidated financial statements of GW as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 and for the three months ended
March 31, 2021 and 2020, and the notes related thereto.

99.4
 

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and for the year
ended December 31, 2020, and the notes related thereto.

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
 
* Certain schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. Jazz agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any

omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon its request.

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1232524/000119312521027577/d117870dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1232524/000119312521151714/d186026dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1232524/000119312521151714/d186026dex991.htm


SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 
Date: July 19, 2021   JAZZ PHARMACEUTICALS PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

  By:  /s/ Neena M. Patil
   Name: Neena M. Patil
   Title: Chief Legal Officer and SVP, Legal and Corporate Affairs



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in registration Statement No. 333-249807, No. 333-236636, No. 333-229889, No. 333-224757, No. 333-
216338, No. 333-209767, No. 333-202269, No. 333-194131, No. 333-186886, No. 333-179075, No. 333-253417 and No. 333-255895 on Form S-8 of
Jazz Pharmaceuticals Public Limited Company of our report dated February 26, 2021, relating to the financial statements of GW Pharmaceuticals plc
and subsidiaries appearing in this Current Report on Form 8-K/A dated July 19, 2021.
 
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Diego, California
July 19, 2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of GW Pharmaceuticals plc

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GW Pharmaceuticals plc and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020
and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2020, three month period ended December 31, 2018, and year ended September 30, 2018, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period
ended December 31, 2020, three month period ended December 31, 2018, and year ended September 30, 2018, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and
(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on
the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Epidiolex Product Net Sales — Rebates — Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

As more fully disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company recognizes revenue from product sales, net of allowances for rebates, which
are included in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. Allowances for rebates include mandated discounts under the Medicaid Drug
Rebate Program and the Medicare Part D prescription drug benefit as well as contractual rebates with commercial payers. The allowance for rebates is
based on contracted or statutory discount rates and expected utilization by benefit plan participants.

Given the significant estimation and uncertainty involved in management’s assumptions to calculate the rebates, such as consideration of historical
claims experience, expected utilization, unbilled claims, claims submission time lags, and the limited historical data currently available, auditing these
estimates involved especially subjective judgment.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our auditing procedures related to allowances for rebates for Epidiolex product sales included the following, among others:
 

 
•  We tested the effectiveness of eight internal controls over the development of the allowances for rebates, including the underlying

assumptions and key inputs into the Company’s allowances for rebates as well as controls over management’s review of the application of
the governmental pricing regulations.

 

 •  We engaged internal Government Pricing specialists to assess the government pricing and accrual methodology for reasonableness.
 

 •  We compared the significant assumptions used by management to currently available historical trends, evaluated the change in the accruals
from prior periods, and assessed the historical accuracy of management’s estimates against actual results.

 

 •  We estimated the rebates accrual for a sample of U.S. programs, using a combination of Company internal data, historical information,
executed contracts, and third-party data and compared our estimate to the amount recorded by the Company.

 

 •  We tested the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used in the Company’s calculations through reconciliation to third-party
invoices, executed contracts, claims data, and actual cash payments.

 
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Diego, California
February 26, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 
   December 31,  
   2020   2019  
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 486,752  $ 536,933 
Accounts receivable, net    71,168   48,883 
Inventory    129,138   85,528 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    42,472   28,292 

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    729,530   699,636 
    

 
   

 

Property, plant, and equipment, net    143,767   127,765 
Operating lease assets    25,118   24,916 
Intangible assets, net    5,565   —   
Goodwill    6,959   6,959 
Deferred tax assets    20,777   18,123 
Other assets    7,795   4,850 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 939,511  $ 882,249 
    

 

   

 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity    
Accounts payable   $ 21,870  $ 9,990 
Accrued liabilities    127,849   99,374 
Current tax liabilities    877   437 
Other current liabilities    9,210   7,760 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    159,806   117,561 
    

 
   

 

Long-term liabilities:    
Finance lease liabilities    5,454   5,573 
Operating lease liabilities    22,127   21,650 
Other liabilities    11,034   11,431 

    
 

   
 

Total long-term liabilities    38,615   38,654 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities    198,421   156,215 
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)    
Stockholders’ equity:    
Ordinary shares par value £0.001; 375,196,172 and 371,068,436 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and

2019, respectively    577   570 
Additional paid-in capital    1,690,151   1,632,046 
Accumulated deficit    (896,087)   (837,959) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (53,551)   (68,623) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    741,090   726,034 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 939,511  $ 882,249 
    

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   

Three Months
Ended

December 31,   
Years Ended

September 30, 
   2020   2019   2018   2018  
Revenues      

Product net sales   $526,830  $ 310,331  $ 6,617  $ 10,469 
Other revenue    375   1,001   37   2,268 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenues    527,205   311,332   6,654   12,737 
Operating expenses      

Cost of product sales    37,531   27,199   1,829   5,986 
Research and development    205,396   142,678   29,086   153,736 
Selling, general and administrative    336,043   259,880   49,083   141,818 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    578,970   429,757   79,998   301,540 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (51,765)   (118,425)   (73,344)   (288,803) 
Interest income    1,814   8,464   2,449   3,645 
Interest expense    (1,121)   (1,087)   (295)   (1,249) 
Other income    —     104,117   —     —   
Foreign exchange loss    (3,974)   (2,272)   (982)   (4,963) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Loss before income taxes    (55,046)   (9,203)   (72,172)   (291,370) 
Income tax expense (benefit)    3,082   (184)   (266)   3,797 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (58,128)  $ (9,019)  $ (71,906)  $ (295,167) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted   $ (0.15)  $ (0.02)  $ (0.20)  $ (0.88) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted    375,586   371,580   366,458   333,936 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

(in thousands)
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   

Three Months
Ended

December 31,   
Year Ended

September 30, 
   2020   2019   2018   2018  
Net loss   $(58,128)  $ (9,019)  $ (71,906)  $ (295,167) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments    15,072   10,065   (3,494)   (676) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Comprehensive (loss) income   $(43,056)  $ 1,046  $ (75,400)  $ (295,843) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   

Three Months
Ended

December 31,   
Years Ended

September 30, 
   2020   2019   2018   2018  
Cash flows from operating activities      
Net loss   $ (58,128)  $ (9,019)  $ (71,906)  $ (295,167) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:      

Foreign exchange loss    910   2,709   742   4,917 
Stock-based compensation    58,359   48,030   9,683   31,627 
Depreciation and amortization    12,757   9,240   2,534   9,290 
Deferred income taxes    (2,654)   (9,698)   (1,265)   (317) 
Gain from sale of priority review voucher    —     (104,117)   —     —   
Other    528   39   —     241 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      
Accounts receivable, net    (22,104)   (44,623)   (2,125)   (804) 
Inventory    (39,873)   (51,125)   (14,460)   (13,646) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    (9,624)   (9,831)   (3,635)   14,489 
Other assets    3,290   3,888   (47)   (564) 
Accounts payable    9,862   805   (1,211)   2,238 
Current tax liabilities    (3,404)   (963)   878   54 
Accrued liabilities    24,890   43,110   5,942   16,507 
Other liabilities    (2,194)   (1,914)   410   (733) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (27,385)   (123,469)   (74,460)   (231,868) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities      
Proceeds from sale of priority review voucher    —     104,117   —     —   
Additions to property, plant and equipment    (18,585)   (40,386)   (18,687)   (31,362) 
Additions to capitalized software    (3,018)   (2,102)   (63)   (2,042) 
Additions to intangible assets - licenses    (6,404)   —     —     —   
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment    —     —     —     517 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities    (28,007)   61,629   (18,750)   (32,887) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities      
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares, net of issuance costs    —     —     324,638   297,931 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    1,579   2,878   —     621 
Payments in connection with common stock withheld for employee tax obligation    (1,826)   —     —     —   
Payments on finance leases    (299)   (389)   (40)   (276) 
Payments on landlord financing obligation    (583)   (543)   (130)   (522) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (1,129)   1,946   324,468   297,754 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    6,340   5,330   5,326   (240) 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents    (50,181)   (54,564)   236,584   32,759 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    536,933   591,497   354,913   322,154 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $486,752  $ 536,933  $ 591,497  $ 354,913 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:      
Income taxes paid   $ 9,139  $ 10,462  $ —    $ 3,726 
Interest paid   $ 1,121  $ 1,087  $ 198  $ 1,249 
Supplemental disclosure of noncash information:      
Property and equipment purchases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $ 2,396  $ 923  $ 1,899  $ 322 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)
 
   Common Stock  

  

Additional
Paid-in
Capital   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss   

Total
Stockholders’

Equity     Shares    Amount 
Balances at September 30, 2017    304,440   $ 482   $ 916,726  $ (461,867)  $ (74,518)  $ 380,823 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Issuance of common stock in public offering, net of issuance
costs    33,120    44    297,888   —     —     297,932 

Issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options    2,687    4    616   —     —     620 
Net loss    —      —      —     (295,167)   —     (295,167) 
Stock-based compensation    —      —      31,627   —     —     31,627 
Other comprehensive loss    —      —      —     —     (676)   (676) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at September 30, 2018    340,247   $ 530   $1,246,857  $ (757,034)  $ (75,194)  $ 415,159 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Issuance of common stock in public offering, net of issuance
costs    26,220    34    324,604   —     —     324,638 

Issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options    150    —      —     —     —     —   
Net loss    —      —      —     (71,906)   —     (71,906) 
Stock-based compensation    —      —      9,683   —     —     9,683 
Other comprehensive loss    —      —      —     —     (3,494)   (3,494) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at December 31, 2018    366,617   $ 564   $1,581,144  $ (828,940)  $ (78,688)  $ 674,080 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options    4,452    6    2,872   —     —     2,878 
Net loss    —      —      —     (9,019)   —     (9,019) 
Stock-based compensation    —      —      48,030   —     —     48,030 
Other comprehensive income    —      —      —     —     10,065   10,065 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at December 31, 2019    371,069   $ 570   $1,632,046  $ (837,959)  $ (68,623)  $ 726,034 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options    4,127    7    1,572   —     —     1,579 
Net loss    —      —      —     (58,128)   —     (58,128) 
Common stock withheld for employee tax obligations    —      —      (1,826)   —     —     (1,826) 
Stock-based compensation    —      —      58,359   —     —     58,359 
Other comprehensive income    —      —      —     —     15,072   15,072 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at December 31, 2020    375,196   $ 577   $1,690,151  $ (896,087)  $ (53,551)  $ 741,090 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Business Overview

GW Pharmaceuticals plc and its subsidiaries (referred to herein as “we,” “us,” “our,” and the “Company”) is a biopharmaceutical company focused on
discovering, developing and commercializing novel therapeutics from our proprietary cannabinoid product platform in a broad range of disease areas.
The Company is developing a portfolio of cannabinoid medicines, of which the lead product is Epidiolex®, an oral medicine for the treatment of certain
refractory childhood epilepsies.

The Company is a public limited company, which has American Depository Shares (ADSs) registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) and has been listed on Nasdaq since May 1, 2013. The Company’s ADSs each represent twelve ordinary shares of GW
Pharmaceuticals plc. The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business is Sovereign House, Vision Park, Histon, Cambridgeshire.

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Change of Fiscal Year

We changed our fiscal year end to December 31 from September 30, effective December 31, 2018.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact our business, results of operations and financial condition, including
sales, expenses, reserves and allowances, manufacturing, clinical trials, research and development costs and employee-related amounts, will depend on
future developments that are highly uncertain, including as a result of new information that may emerge concerning COVID-19 and the actions taken to
contain it or treat COVID-19, as well as the economic impact on local, regional, national and international customers and markets. We have made
estimates of the impact of COVID-19 within our financial statements and there may be changes to those estimates in future periods. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial position and results of operations of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries are generally determined using local currency as the functional
currency. Assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each year end. Income statement accounts are
translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the year. Adjustments arising from the use of differing exchange rates from period to period
are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in “foreign
exchange loss” in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, interest and other receivables,
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate fair value due to the relative short-term nature of these instruments.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded net of customer allowances for prompt payment discounts, chargebacks, and doubtful accounts. Allowances for
prompt payment discounts and chargebacks are based on contractual terms. The Company estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts based on
existing contractual payment terms, actual payment patterns of its customers and individual customer circumstances. As of December 31, 2020, and
2019, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.3 million.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value. The Company uses a combination of standard and actual costing methodologies
to determine the cost basis for its inventories which approximates actual cost. Inventory is valued on a first-in, first-out basis. The Company reduces its
inventory to net realizable value for potentially excess, dated or obsolete inventory based on an analysis of forecasted demand compared to quantities on
hand, as well as product shelf life.

Our inventory production process includes the cultivation of botanical raw material. Because of the duration of the cultivation process, a portion of our
inventory will not be sold within one year. Consistent with the practice in other industries that cultivate botanical raw materials, all inventory is
classified as a current asset.

The Company capitalizes inventory costs associated with its products upon regulatory approval when, based on management’s judgment, future
commercialization is considered probable and the future economic benefit is expected to be realized; otherwise, such costs are expensed. Prior to FDA
approval of Epidiolex, all costs related to the manufacturing of Epidiolex were charged to research and development expense in the period incurred.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the term of the lease by use of the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives for buildings and leasehold improvements range from 4 to 20 years. The estimated useful lives of machinery and equipment range from 3 to
20 years. Construction-in-process reflects amounts incurred for property, equipment or improvements that have not been placed in service. Maintenance
and repair costs are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or sold, the assets and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective
accounts and any gain or loss is recognized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated future operating cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by
the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination and is not amortized. Goodwill is
subject to impairment testing at least annually or when a triggering event occurs that could indicate a potential impairment. We performed the annual
assessment for goodwill impairment in December of 2020, noting no impairment.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when its customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which
the entity is entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that an entity determines are within
the scope of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), the entity performs the
following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction
price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation. The Company only applies the five-step model to contracts when it is probable that the entity will collect the consideration it is
entitled to in exchange for the goods or services it transfers to the customer. At contract inception, once the contract is determined to be within the scope
of Topic 606, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within each contract and determines those that are performance obligations and
assesses whether each promised good or service is distinct. The Company then recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated
to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue for the Company’s product sales has not been adjusted for the effects of a financing component as the Company expects, at contract inception,
that the period between when the Company transfers control of the product and when the Company receives payment will be one year or less. Product
shipping and handling costs are included in cost of product sales.

Epidiolex Product Net Sales

In the United States, the Company sells Epidiolex to specialty pharmacies (SPs) and specialty distributors (SDs). The Company recognizes revenue from
product sales upon receipt of product at the SPs and SDs, the date at which the control is transferred, net of the following allowances which are reflected
either as a reduction to the related account receivable or as an accrued liability, depending on how the allowance is settled:

Distribution Fees: Distribution fees include distribution service fees paid to the SPs and SDs based on a contractually fixed percentage of the wholesale
acquisition cost (WAC), and prompt payment discounts. Distribution fees are recorded as an offset to revenue based on contractual terms at the time
revenue from the sale is recognized.

Rebates: Allowances for rebates include mandated discounts under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and the Medicare Part D prescription drug
benefit, and contractual rebates with commercial payers. Rebates are amounts owed after the final dispensing of the product to a benefit plan participant
and are based upon contractual agreements or statutory requirements. The allowance for rebates is based on contracted or statutory discount rates and
expected utilization by benefit plan participants. The Company’s estimates for expected utilization of rebates is based on utilization data received from
the SPs. Rebates are generally invoiced and paid in arrears so that the accrual balance consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be incurred for
the current quarter’s activity, plus an accrual balance for prior quarters’ unpaid rebates. If actual future rebates vary from estimates, the Company may
need to adjust prior period accruals, which would affect revenue in the period of adjustment.

Chargebacks: Chargebacks are discounts and fees that relate to contracts with government and other entities purchasing from the SDs at a discounted
price. The SDs charge back to the Company the difference between the price initially paid by the SDs and the discounted price paid to the SDs by these
entities. The Company also incurs group purchasing organization fees for transactions through certain purchasing organizations. The Company estimates
sales with these entities and accrues for anticipated chargebacks and organization fees, based on the applicable contractual terms. If actual future
chargebacks vary from these estimates, the Company may need to adjust prior period accruals, which would affect revenue in the period of adjustment.

Co-Payment Assistance: The Company offers co-payment assistance to commercially insured patients meeting certain eligibility requirements.
Co-payment assistance is accrued for based on actual program participation and estimates of program redemption using data provided by third-party
administrators.

Product Returns: Consistent with industry practice, the Company offers the SPs and SDs limited product return rights for damages, shipment errors, and
expiring product, provided that the return is within a specified period around the product expiration date as set forth in the applicable individual
distribution agreement.
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The Company does not allow product returns for product that has been dispensed to a patient. As the Company receives inventory reports from the SPs
and SDs and has the ability to control the amount of product that is sold to the SPs and SDs, it is able to make a reasonable estimate of future potential
product returns based on this on-hand channel inventory data and sell-through data obtained from the SPs and SDs. In arriving at its estimate, the
Company also considers historical product returns, the underlying product demand, and industry data specific to the specialty pharmaceutical
distribution industry.

In September 2019, the Company announced that the European Commission (EC) approved the marketing authorization for Epidyolex (the trade name
in Europe for Epidiolex) for use as adjunctive therapy of seizures associated with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome (LGS) or Dravet syndrome, in conjunction
with clobazam, for patients two years of age and older. The Company has launched Epidyolex in a number of European markets and recognizes revenue
from product sales in Europe upon delivery of the product, which is the point at which control of the goods is transferred to the customer. The Company
recognizes revenue net of standard discounts and allowances, which are reflected as accrued liabilities.

The Company also sells Epidiolex in certain markets outside of the United States under early access programs that enable patients to receive the product
prior to regulatory approval. Revenue under early access programs is generally recognized when the product is delivered.

The total amount deducted from gross sales for the allowances described above for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $137.5 million and
$63.3 million, respectively.

Sativex Product Net Sales

Sativex is sold outside of the United States for the treatment of spasticity due to multiple sclerosis, or MS, pursuant to license agreements with
commercial partners and, beginning in the first quarter of 2020, directly to customers in the U.K.

Under the license agreements, the Company sells fully labeled Sativex vials to its commercial partners for a contractually agreed price, which is
generally based on percentages of the commercial partners’ in-market net selling price charged to end customers. Product net sales revenue related to
Sativex shipments to commercial license partners is recognized when shipped, at which point the customer obtains control of the product.

In the U.K., the Company recognizes revenue from product sales of Sativex upon delivery of the product, which is the point at which control of the
goods is transferred to the customer. The Company recognizes revenue net of standard discounts and allowances, which are reflected as accrued
liabilities.

The Company also commercializes Sativex in Australia and New Zealand through a consignment relationship with a local distributor. Product net sales
revenues related to Sativex sales in Australia and New Zealand are recognized when the product is sold through to the end customer.

Other Revenue

The Company’s other revenue primarily consists of research and development fee revenue and variable consideration milestone payments related to the
Sativex license agreements. The research and development fee revenue is recognized at the time the underlying services are performed. The Sativex
license agreements contain provisions for the Company to earn variable consideration in the form of regulatory milestone payments, sales-based
milestone payments, and royalty payments. The Company has no further performance obligations related to the regulatory milestone payments and these
amounts are recognized in accordance with Topic 606 when receipt of these payments becomes probable and there is no significant risk of revenue
reversal. Revenue related to the sales-based milestone payments and product royalty payments are subject to the sales-based royalty exception under
Topic 606 and is recognized when the underlying sales are made.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses are charged to operations as incurred. Research and development expenses include, among other things, internal
and external costs associated with preclinical development, pre-commercialization manufacturing expenses, and clinical trials. The Company accrues for
costs incurred as the services are being provided by monitoring the status of the trial or services provided and the invoices received from its external
service providers. In the case of clinical trials, a portion of the estimated cost normally relates to the projected cost to treat a patient in the trials, and this
cost is recognized based on the number of patients enrolled in the trial. As actual costs become known, the Company adjusts its accruals accordingly.

Research and development expense is presented net of reimbursements from reimbursable tax and expenditure credits from the U.K. government. The
majority of the Company’s pipeline research, clinical trials management and the Epidiolex and Sativex chemistry and manufacturing controls
development activities, which are generally carried out by a subsidiary in the U.K., are eligible for inclusion under the U.K tax and expenditure rebate
schemes. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018 and year ended September 30, 2018, the Company
recorded $8.1 million, $4.0 million, $0.8 million, and $4.3 million, respectively, of U.K. tax and expenditure rebates as a component of research and
development expense.

Concentration Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, principally consist of cash, cash equivalents, investment
securities, and accounts receivable. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balances are primarily in depository accounts at major financial
institutions in accordance with the Company’s investment policy. The Company’s investment policy defines allowable investments and establishes
guidelines relating to credit quality, diversification, and maturities of its investments to preserve principal and maintain liquidity. Further, the Company
specifies credit quality standards for its customers that are designed to limit the Company’s credit exposure to any single party.

For the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company’s five largest customers represented approximately 79% of the Company’s product net sales and
75% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s five largest
customers represented approximately 85% of the Company’s product net sales and 86% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance as of
December 31, 2019. For the three months ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s five largest customers represented approximately 71% of the
Company’s product net sales and 75% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2018. For the year ended September 30, 2018,
product net sales consisted entirely of Sativex sales outside of the United States pursuant to license agreements with a small number of commercial
partners.

Share-based Compensation

The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense for grants of stock options under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plans to employees
and non-employee members of the Company’s board of directors based on the grant-date fair value of those awards. The grant-date fair value of an
award is generally recognized as compensation expense over the award’s requisite service period. Expense related to awards with graded vesting is
generally recognized over the vesting period using the accelerated attribution method.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes model to compute the estimated fair value of market-priced stock option awards. Using this model, fair value is
calculated based on assumptions with respect to (i) expected volatility of the Company’s ADS price, (ii) the periods of time over which employees and
members of the board of directors are expected to hold their options prior to exercise (expected lives), (iii) expected dividend yield on the ordinary
shares, and (iv) risk-free interest rates. Share-based compensation expense also includes an estimate, which is made at the time of grant, of the number
of awards that are expected to be forfeited. This estimate is revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
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Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the
Company’s assets and liabilities along with net operating loss and tax credit carryovers. The Company records a valuation allowance against its deferred
tax assets to reduce the net carrying value to an amount that it believes is more likely than not to be realized. When the Company establishes or reduces
the valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, its provision for income taxes will increase or decrease, respectively, in the period such
determination is made.

Valuation allowances against the Company’s deferred tax assets were $133.7 million and $114.5 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Changes in the valuation allowances are generally recognized in the provision for income taxes as a component of the estimated annual effective tax
rate.

Uncertain tax positions, for which management’s assessment is that there is more than a 50% probability of sustaining the position upon challenge by a
taxing authority based upon its technical merits, are subjected to certain recognition and measurement criteria. The Company re-evaluates uncertain tax
positions and considers various factors, including, but not limited to, changes in tax law, the measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken
in tax returns, and changes in facts or circumstances related to a tax position. The Company adjusts the level of the liability to reflect any subsequent
changes in the relevant facts and circumstances surrounding the uncertain positions. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income
tax matters as a component of income tax expense.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period, without
consideration for common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common
shares and common stock equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury stock method. For purposes of this calculation, market-
priced stock options are considered to be common stock equivalents but are not included in the calculations of diluted net loss per share for the periods
presented as their effect would be anti-dilutive. Nominal strike-price options are considered common stock equivalents and are included in the
calculation of basic weighted average shares outstanding once they have become vested. The Company incurred net losses for all periods presented and
there were no reconciling items for potentially dilutive securities. More specifically, at December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, December 31, 2018,
and September 30, 2018, options totaling approximately 16.3 million, 11.8 million, 13.0 million, and 13.0 million ordinary shares, respectively, were
excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Segment and Geographic Reporting

Management has determined that the Company operates in one business segment which is the discovery, development and commercialization of novel
therapeutics from its proprietary cannabinoid product platform in a broad range of disease areas.

Revenues recorded in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and year ended September 30, 2018, were
generated in the following geographical areas:
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    

Three Months
Ended

December 31,    
Year Ended

September 30, 
   2020    2019    2018    2018  
       (in thousands)      
United Kingdom    10,804    2,550    220    1,761 
United States    467,553    288,164    4,669    1,560 
Europe    45,376    16,516    1,131    6,882 
Other    3,472    4,102    634    2,534 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total revenues   $527,205   $311,332   $ 6,654   $ 12,737 
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Long-lived assets which include property, plant, and equipment were located as follows:
 
   December 31,  
   2020    2019  
   (in thousands)  
United Kingdom   $139,084   $123,207 
United States    4,683    4,558 

    
 

    
 

Total long-lived assets   $143,767   $127,765 
    

 

    

 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2020-06, Debt – Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging –
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity:

In August 2020, FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, simplifying the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and
equity, including convertible instruments, and amends existing earnings-per-share, or EPS, guidance by requiring that an entity use the if-converted
method when calculating diluted EPS for convertible instruments. ASU 2020-06 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021,
including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim
periods within those fiscal years. We plan to adopt ASU 2020-06 effective January 1, 2022 and are currently evaluating the effect ASU 2020-06 will
have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes: Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes:

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, simplifying the accounting for Income Taxes. The objective of the standard is to improve areas
of GAAP by removing certain exceptions permitted by ASC Topic 740 - Income Taxes and clarifying existing guidance to facilitate consistent
application. The standard is effective for us beginning on January 1, 2021. We are currently evaluating the new standard to determine the potential
impact on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, or financial statement disclosures. The ASU is currently not expected to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments:

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, which amends the impairment model by requiring entities to use a forward-looking approach based on
expected losses to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including trade receivables and available-for-sale debt securities. This
guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods. We adopted this guidance as of
January 1, 2020. Under the current expected credit loss model, we have adopted a provision matrix approach, utilizing historical loss rates based on the
number of days past due, adjusted to reflect current economic conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The adoption of ASU 2016-13
had an immaterial impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3: Sativex License Agreements

The Company has entered into license agreements for Sativex with major pharmaceutical companies that provide the license partners with exclusive
rights in a defined geographic territory to commercialize Sativex for all indications. The Company has retained the exclusive right to manufacture and
supply Sativex to license partners on commercial supply terms for the duration of the commercial life of the product. In the first quarter of 2020, the
Company reacquired the rights to commercialize Sativex in the U.K. from Bayer AG for approximately $6.4 million. The Company capitalized the cost
to reacquire the license as an intangible asset and will amortize the asset over its five-year estimated useful life. As of December 31, 2020, $1.2 million
of the intangible asset has been amortized.

In 2007, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Otsuka) for the development and
commercialization of Sativex in the United States. In December 2017, the Company entered into a mutual termination agreement with Otsuka to return
the rights to develop and commercialize Sativex in the United States to the Company. As part of the termination agreement, the Company agreed to pay
Otsuka a contingent future milestone payment of $10 million if Sativex achieves FDA approval in the U.S. and a total of $30 million of potential sales-
based milestones if U.S. sales of Sativex reach certain thresholds. As of December 31, 2020, no amounts have been accrued related to the contingent
payments because it is not probable that the milestones will be achieved.

Note 4: Fair Value Measurements

At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company’s cash equivalents consisted of money market funds, which are classified as Level 1
within the fair value hierarchy defined by authoritative guidance.

Securities classified as Level 1 are valued using quoted market prices. The Company does not hold any securities classified as Level 2, which are
securities valued using inputs that are either directly or indirectly observable, or Level 3, which are securities valued using unobservable inputs. The
Company has not transferred any securities between the classification levels.

Note 5: Composition of Certain Balance Sheet Captions:

Inventory consisted of the following:
 
   December 31,  
   2020    2019  
   (in thousands)  
Raw materials   $ 2,691   $ 1,976 
Work in process    112,662    78,547 
Finished goods    13,785    5,005 

    
 

    
 

  $129,138   $85,528 
    

 

    

 

Property, plant and equipment, net, consisted of the following:
 
   December 31,  
   2020   2019  
   (in thousands)  
Buildings   $ 15,957  $ 4,725 
Machinery and equipment    51,021   36,323 
Leasehold improvements    49,516   42,744 
Office and IT equipment    5,890   3,837 
Construction-in-process    71,441   78,485 

    
 

   
 

   193,825   166,114 
Accumulated depreciation    (50,058)   (38,349) 

    
 

   
 

  $143,767  $127,765 
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Depreciation of property and equipment was $9.9 million, $8.0 million, $2.2 million, and $8.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
three months ended December 31, 2018 and for the year ended September 30, 2018, respectively. The Company retired $0.5 million of property, plant,
and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company did not retire any property, plant, or equipment in the year ended December 31,
2019 and three months ended December 31, 2018. During the year ended September 30, 2018, the Company retired $0.5 million, of fully depreciated
property, plant and equipment.

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:
 
   December 31,  
   2020    2019  
   (in thousands)  
Accrued compensation and benefits   $ 34,830   $25,469 
Accrued vendor fees    31,445    29,731 
Clinical trial accruals    14,845    10,382 
Accrued growing fees    3,363    3,818 
Accrued sales rebates and discounts    37,403    22,995 
Other    5,963    6,979 

    
 

    
 

  $127,849   $99,374 
    

 

    

 

Other current liabilities consisted of the following:
 
   December 31,  
   2020    2019  
   (in thousands)  
Finance lease liabilities   $ 338   $ 305 
Operating lease liabilities    6,209    5,902 
Landlord financing    665    595 
Other    1,998    958 

    
 

    
 

  $9,210   $7,760 
    

 

    

 

Other liabilities consisted of the following:    
 
   December 31,  
   2020    2019  
   (in thousands)  
Landlord financing obligation   $ 8,844   $ 9,152 
Other    2,190    2,279 

    
 

    
 

  $11,034   $11,431 
    

 

    

 

Note 6: Stockholders’ Equity

In October 2018, the Company completed a public offering of 2,185,000 ADSs listed on the Nasdaq Global Market, representing 26,220,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, at a price of $158.00 per ADS. The net proceeds from this transaction after underwriting discounts and commissions were
approximately $324.6 million.

In December 2017, the Company completed a public offering of 2,760,000 ADSs listed on the Nasdaq Global Market, representing 33,120,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, at a price of $115.00 per ADS. The net proceeds from this transaction after underwriting discounts and commissions were
approximately $297.9 million.
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Note 7: Share-Based Compensation

Stock Plans

The Company issues share-based awards under shareholder approved long-term incentive plans. In May 2020, the Company adopted the GW
Pharmaceuticals plc 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 2020 LTIP Plan), which superseded the Company’s prior long-term incentive plans. The 2020
LTIP plan authorizes the Company to issue up to an aggregate of 22.2 million ordinary shares, or 1.85 million ADSs, related to share-based awards to
employees, non-employee directors and consultants. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has granted stock options for 4.3 million ordinary shares
under the 2020 LTIP Plan.

The Company issues new ordinary shares and the commensurate number of ADS when share-based awards are exercised.

Provisions of Share-Based Awards

The Company issues nominal strike price stock options, which have an exercise price equal to the £0.001 par value per ordinary share of the Company’s
ordinary shares, to executive officers, employees and non-employee directors. The Company also issues market-priced options to executive officers and
non-employee directors. Nominal strike price options granted to U.S. residents are awarded in the form of RSU-style options that automatically exercise
on the vesting date.

Substantially all of the share-based awards issued by the Company have service-based vesting conditions. Many awards also have non-market-based
performance conditions, which must be achieved within the service-based vesting period for the awards to vest. These performance conditions are
generally linked to operational, regulatory or strategic milestones and are designed to incentivize individual employees and advance the Company’s
progress towards its strategic objectives. Share-based awards that do not automatically exercise at vest date expire ten years from the date of grant.

Share-Based Award Activity

The following tables summarize the Company’s stock option activity. The number of options, the weighted average grant date fair value per stock
option, and the weighted average exercise price are all on a per ordinary shares basis. The Company’s ADSs that are listed on the Nasdaq Global Market
each represent twelve ordinary shares.

The following table summarizes the Company’s nominal strike price stock option activity:
 
   

Year Ended
December 31,    

Year Ended
December 31,    

Three Months Ended
December 31,    

Year Ended
September 30,  

   2020    2019    2018    2018  

   

Nominal
Strike
Price

Options   

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value    

Nominal
Strike
Price

Options   

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value    

Nominal
Strike
Price

Options   

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value    

Nominal
Strike
Price

Options   

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

   (in thousands, except weighted average grant date fair value)  
Outstanding, beginning of period    10,459  $ 11.24    11,182  $ 8.44    11,240  $ 8.41    9,752  $ 7.90 
Granted    8,982   9.54    3,493   13.93    184   9.58    4,247   9.34 
Exercised    (4,156)   9.46    (3,798)   5.43    (150)   7.36    (2,617)   7.21 
Cancelled    (566)   9.92    (418)   11.69    (92)   8.61    (142)   9.37 

    
 

     
 

     
 

     
 

 

Outstanding, end of period    14,719  $ 10.76    10,459  $ 11.24    11,182  $ 8.44    11,240  $ 8.41 
    

 

     

 

     

 

     

 

 

Exercisable, end of period    1,949  $ 8.91    1,434  $ 5.47    1,054  $ 3.65    1,136  $ 6.11 
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The following table summarizes the Company’s market-priced stock option activity:
 
   

Year Ended
December 31,    

Year Ended
December 31,    

Three Months Ended
December 31,    

Year Ended
September 30,  

   2020    2019    2018    2018  

   

Market
Strike
Price

Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Market
Strike
Price

Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Market
Strike
Price

Options    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Market
Strike
Price

Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  
   (in thousands, except weighted average grant date fair value)  
Outstanding, beginning of period    2,836  $ 9.60    2,889  $ 8.49    2,889   $ 8.49    2,174  $ 8.28 
Granted    —     —      602   14.82    —      —      785   9.65 
Exercised    (162)   4.68    (654)   2.32    —      —      (70)   9.03 
Cancelled    —     —      (1)   3.89    —      —      —     —   

    
 

     
 

     
 

      
 

 

Outstanding, end of period    2,674  $ 9.90    2,836  $ 9.60    2,889   $ 8.49    2,889  $ 8.49 
    

 

     

 

     

 

      

 

 

Exercisable, end of period    1,489  $ 7.92    620  $ 4.99    461   $ 6.90    257  $ 8.74 
    

 

     

 

     

 

      

 

 

No market priced options were granted in the year ended December 31, 2020 or in the three months ended December 31, 2018. The weighted average
per share fair value of market priced options granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 and year ended September 30, 2018 was $14.82 and
$5.98, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value of the stock options exercised in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $36.3 million and $52.9 million,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of the stock options exercised in the three months ended December 31, 2018 was $1.6 million. The aggregate
intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the year ended September 30, 2018 was $30.7 million. As of December 31, 2020, the weighted average
remaining contractual life of options outstanding and options exercisable are 4.3 years and 5.1 years, respectively. Based on the Company’s closing
year-end stock price of $116.09 per ADS (or $9.67 per ordinary share) at December 31, 2020, the aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and
options exercisable are $145.6 million and $21.6 million, respectively.

Valuation and Expense Recognition of Share-Based Awards

The fair value of market-priced stock option awards is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The estimated fair value of each stock
option is then expensed over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The determination of fair value using the Black-Scholes
model is affected by the Company’s ADS price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables, including expected
ADS price volatility, risk-free interest rate, expected dividends and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. No market-priced stock options
were granted in 2020. Market-priced stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 and the year ended September 30, 2018 were
valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:
 
   

Year Ended
December 31,   

Year Ended
September 30, 

   2019    2018  
Expected volatility    56%    63% 
Risk-free interest rate    2.56%    2.30% 
Expected dividend yield    0%    0% 
Expected life of options in years    6.50    6.50 

The Company estimates its stock price volatility based using a combination of historical stock price volatility and the average implied volatility of
options traded in the open market. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on observed interest rates for the appropriate term of the Company’s
stock options. The Company has never declared or paid dividends and has no plans to do so in the foreseeable future. The expected option life
assumption is estimated using the simplified method prescribed by ASC 718 and is based on the mid-point between vest date and expiration date since
the Company does not have sufficient exercise history to estimate expected option life of historical grants.
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Compensation expense for share-based awards based on a service condition is recognized only for those awards that are ultimately expected to vest. An
estimated forfeiture rate has been applied to unvested awards for the purpose of calculating compensation cost. Forfeitures were estimated based on
historical experience. These estimates are revised, if necessary, in future periods if actual forfeitures differ from the estimates. Changes in forfeiture
estimates impact compensation cost in the period in which the change in estimate occurs. Compensation expense for share-based awards with graded,
service-based vesting conditions is recognized over the requisite service period using the accelerated attribution method.

The table below summarizes the total share-based compensation expense included in the Company’s statements of operations for the periods presented:
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    

Three Months
Ended

December 31,    
Years Ended

September 30, 
   2020    2019    2018    2018  
   (in thousands)  
Research and development   $11,253   $ 9,757   $ 6,887   $ 9,385 
Sales, general and administrative    43,730    35,468    2,382    22,242 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   54,983    45,225   $ 9,269   $ 31,627 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, $3.4 million and $2.8 million of share-based compensation related to manufacturing operations was
capitalized into inventory, respectively. For the three months ended December 31, 2018, $0.4 million of share-based compensation related to
manufacturing operations was capitalized into inventory. Share-based compensation related to manufacturing operations capitalized into inventory for
the year ended September 30, 2018 was negligible.

As of December 31, 2020, total compensation cost related to non-vested stock options not yet recognized was approximately $68.4 million, which is
expected to be recognized over the next 42 months (22 months on a weighted average basis).

Note 8: Retirement Plans

The Company operates defined contribution retirement plans in the U.S. and U.K. for the benefit of all qualifying employees. The Company makes
discretionary contributions to these plans and contributed $6.7 million, $4.6 million, $0.9 million, and $3.3 million, in the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018 and year ended September 30, 2018, respectively.

Note 9: Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes is as follows:
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   

Three Months
Ended

December 31,   
Year Ended

September 30, 
   2020   2019   2018   2018  
   (in thousands)  
United States   $ 32,183  $ 22,822  $ 1,487  $ 12,041 
United Kingdom    (88,570)   (32,025)   (73,659)   (303,411) 
Europe    1,341   —     —     —   

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

  $(55,046)  $ (9,203)  $ (72,172)  $ (291,370) 
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The components of income tax (benefit) expense are as follows:
 
   

Year Ended
December 31,   

Three Months Ended
December 31,   

Year Ended
September 30, 

   2020   2019   2018   2018  
   (in thousands)  
Current      

U.S. federal   $ 2,829  $ 7,397  $ 945  $ 3,885 
U.S. state and local    2,584   2,117   54   229 
United Kingdom    —     —     —     —   
Europe    338   —     —     —   

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total Current   $ 5,751  $ 9,514  $ 999  $ 4,114 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Deferred      
U.S. federal   $(1,501)  $(6,372)  $ (1,166)  $ (263) 
U.S. state and local    (1,116)   (3,326)   (99)   (54) 
United Kingdom    —     —     —     —   
Europe    (52)   —     —     —   

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total Deferred   $(2,669)  $(9,698)  $ (1,265)  $ (317) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total income tax (benefit) expense   $ 3,082  $ (184)  $ (266)  $ 3,797 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

As of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to deferred tax
assets and liabilities were as follows:
 
   

Year Ended
December 31,  

   2020   2019  
   (in thousands)  
Deferred tax assets:    

Net operating losses   $ 124,596  $ 106,421 
Research and development tax credits    763   668 
Share-based compensation    17,433   14,515 
Accrued expenses    3,861   3,268 
Capitalized costs    —     1,688 
Operating lease liabilities    1,678   1,837 
Rebates and allowances    6,881   5,172 
Depreciation    —     279 
Other    1,694   428 

    
 

   
 

Total gross deferred tax assets    156,906   134,276 
Valuation allowance    (133,720)   (114,525) 

    
 

   
 

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance    23,186   19,751 
    

 
   

 

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Depreciation   $ (1,039)   —   
Operating lease assets    (1,370)   (1,628) 

    
 

   
 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities    (2,409)   (1,628) 
    

 
   

 

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities   $ 20,777  $ 18,123 
    

 

   

 

A valuation allowance of $133.7 million and $114.5 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, has been recognized to offset
net deferred tax assets where realization of such assets is uncertain. The valuation allowances are primarily related to deferred assets for operating loss
carryforwards and temporary differences related to share-based compensation expense of the Company’s U.K. operations.
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The following table reconciles the Company’s effective tax rate to the United Kingdom statutory rate:
 
   

Years Ended
December 31,    

Three Months Ended
December 31,    

Year Ended
September 30, 

   2020    2019    2018    2018  
Tax, computed at the U.K. statutory rate    19.0%    19.0%    19.0%    19.0% 
Non-deductible expenses    (1.0%)    (5.2%)    (0.2%)    (0.1%) 
U.S. research tax credits, net    5.7%    39.3%    0.4%    0.9% 
Surrender of R&D expenditures for U.K. research tax credits, net    (0.5%)    (1.9%)    —      (0.1%) 
Foreign Derived Intangible Income    7.0%    6.8%    0.8%    —   
Share-based compensation    (4.1%)    61.2%    0.2%    0.9% 
Changes in valuation allowances    (55.1%)    (96.2%)    (19.6%)    (20.5%) 
Remeasurement of deferred taxes from legislative updates    24.9%    —      —      (1.0%) 
Current/Deferred tax rate differential    —      (21.4%)    —      —   
Overseas profits taxed at different rates    (2.1%)    (13.9%)    (0.1%)    (0.3%) 
State tax rate change    0.5%    13.5%    —      —   
Other    0.1%    0.8%    (0.1%)    (0.1%) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Effective income tax rate    (5.6%)    2.0%    0.4%    (1.3%) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was signed into law in
the U.S. in March 2020. The CARES Act adjusted a number of provisions of the tax code, including the eligibility of certain deductions and the
treatment of net operating losses and tax credits. The enactment of the CARES Act did not result in any material adjustments to the Company’s income
tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2020 or to its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020.

California Assembly Bill 85 (“AB 85”), which intends to close a gap in the budget created by the COVID-19 pandemic, was signed into
law by Governor Gavin Newsom on June 29, 2020. It was passed by both houses of the California state legislature on June 15, 2020. AB 85 disallows
California net operating losses for any taxable year beginning on or after January 1, 2020, and before January 1, 2023 for any corporation with a net
business or modified adjusted gross income of more than $1 million for the taxable year. This bill also limits any business credit to offset a maximum of
$5 million of California tax, including the California Research Credit. The Company does not expect any material impacts related to this tax law change.

The Company is headquartered in the United Kingdom and has subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, United States, Europe, and Australia.

The Company incurs tax losses in the United Kingdom. The U.K. corporate tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
three months ended December 31, 2018, and year ended September 30, 2018 was 19.0%. On March 11, 2020, the UK Chancellor of the Exchequer
delivered the 2020 Budget to the UK parliament. It was announced that the previously anticipated reduction in the UK corporate tax rate to 17% due to
take effect on April 1, 2020 would not be implemented and the rate would remain at 19%. Royal Assent was given on July 22, 2020. The deferred tax
assets at December 31, 2020 have now been represented at the current tax rate of 19% with a corresponding offset to the valuation allowance.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had U.K. net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $655.8 million. Unsurrendered U.K.
tax losses and tax credit carryforwards can be carried forward indefinitely to be offset against future taxable profits, however this is restricted to an
annual £5 million allowance in each standalone company or group and above this allowance, there will be a 50% restriction in the profits that can be
covered by losses brought forward.

The Company’s subsidiary in the United States has generated taxable profits due to the commercialization of Epidiolex in the United
States and service agreements between the Company’s subsidiaries in the United States and the United Kingdom. The U.S. federal corporate tax rate for
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and year ended September 30, 2018 was 21.0%, 21.0%, 21.0%,
and 24.5%, respectively. The U.S. federal statutory tax rate has decreased due to U.S. tax reform which was enacted in December 2017.
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The impact of income taxes outside of the United States and United Kingdom are not significant.

The Company’s tax returns are subject to examination in the U.K. and U.S. The Company is no longer subject to examinations by tax
authorities for tax years ended September 30, 2017 and prior in the United Kingdom. The Company’s U.K. income tax returns have been submitted to
Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs through the period ended December 31, 2019 and may be subject to audit until December 31, 2021. The Company
is subject to examinations by U.S. Federal tax authorities for tax years ended December 31, 2018 and September 30, 2018 and 2017, and by state
authorities for the tax years ended December 31, 2018 and September 30, 2018, 2017, and 2016. The California Franchise Tax Board is conducting an
income tax audit of the Company’s U.S. subsidiary for tax years ended September 30, 2017, 2016, and 2015.

Unrecognized tax benefits arise when the estimated benefit recorded in the financial statements differs from the amounts taken or expected
to be taken in a tax return because of the uncertainties described above. The Company’s total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $2.3 million and
$2.4 million as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to
uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense and unrecognized tax benefits. The amounts accrued for interest and penalty charges as of
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 were not significant. If recognized, $2.3 million would affect the effective tax rate. The Company does not
anticipate that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2020 will significantly change within the next twelve months.

The reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits was as follows:
 
   

Years Ended
December 31,  

   2020   2019  
      (in thousands) 
Balance, beginning of period   $2,391  $ 1,943 
Additions for tax positions related to current year    590   416 
Additions for tax positions related to prior years    8   32 
Reduction for tax positions related to prior years    —     —   
Reduction for lapse of statute of limitations    (648)   —   

    
 

   
 

Balance, end of period   $2,341  $ 2,391 
    

 

   

 

Note 10: Commitments and Contingencies

Landlord Financing

In 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with its landlord for the construction of a new production facility. In conjunction with
agreement, the Company’s landlord provided $13.1 million of funding to the Company for the internal fit out of the production facility. The repayment
of this landlord financing takes the form of quarterly rent payments over a 15-year period that commenced in May 2016. The landlord financing liability
is accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest method at a rate of 7.0%. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the total landlord financing
liability balance was $9.5 million and $9.7 million, respectively and included in “other current liabilities” and “other liabilities” in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets.

Legal Proceedings

As of December 31, 2020, the Company was not a party to any material legal proceedings.

In 2007, the Company entered into a research collaboration agreement with Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Otsuka), which expired in
June 2013. Otsuka has contacted the Company to assert that it is owed royalty payments under the agreement of up to two percent of Epidiolex net sales.
While the Company believes Otsuka’s position is without merit, the Company cannot predict the outcome of this matter and cannot provide assurances
that the Company will be successful, in whole or in part, in the Company’s efforts.
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On December 23, 2020, Canopy Growth Corporation filed suit against the Company in the Western District of Texas, alleging
infringement of U.S. Patent No. 10,870,632. Canopy alleges that the process the Company used to make the crude cannabinoid extract that is used to
make Epidiolex is within the scope of its patent. The Company dispute Canopy’s claims and intend to defend the matter vigorously.

Note 11: Leases

The Company leases buildings, land, equipment, and automobiles. Additionally, the Company has growing and cultivation contracts that
contain embedded facility leases. The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease at contract inception. For contracts that are or
contain leases, the Company records right-of-use (ROU) lease assets and lease liabilities at lease commencement based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. The lease term includes renewal option periods when those options are reasonably certain to be exercised. The present
value of lease payments is calculated using the Company’s incremental collateralized borrowing rate unless an implicit rate is readily determinable.
ROU lease assets include any upfront payments and exclude lease incentives. The Company accounts for lease and non-lease components as a single
lease component for all of its leases except embedded leases, for which the lease and non-lease components are accounted for separately.

Leases are classified at lease commencement as either operating leases or finance leases. Operating lease assets are included in non-current
assets and operating lease liabilities are included in other current liabilities and operating lease liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. Operating
lease cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Finance lease assets are included in property, plant and equipment, net, and finance
lease liabilities are included in other current liabilities and finance lease liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. Finance lease cost is recognized as
depreciation expense of fixed assets and interest expense on finance lease liabilities. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded in
the consolidated balance sheets and expense for these leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company’s lease costs consist of the following:
 
   

Year Ended
December 31,  

   2020    2019  
   (in thousands)  
Lease cost     

Operating lease cost (1)   $8,891   $7,446 
Finance lease cost     

Amortization of leased assets    386    383 
Interest on lease liabilities    414    403 

    
 

    
 

Total lease cost   $9,691   $8,232 
    

 

    

 

 (1) Includes short-term lease expense and variable cost, which are immaterial.

For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, approximately $3.0 million and $2.7 million of operating and finance lease cost related
to manufacturing operations was capitalized into inventory, respectively. Prior to January 1, 2019, the Company accounted for leases under the previous
U.S. GAAP lease guidance, Accounting Standards Codification Topic 840, Leases. Rent expense for operating leases was $1.8 million and $5.7 million
for the three months ended December 31, 2018 and year ended September 30, 2018, respectively.
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The following table summarizes cash flow information related to the Company’s lease obligations:
 
   

Year Ended
December 31,  

   2020    2019  
   (in thousands)  
Operating cash used for operating leases   $8,321   $7,081 
Operating cash used for finance leases   $ 414   $ 403 
Financing cash used for finance leases   $ 299   $ 389 

In the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, $3.2 million and $7.6 million of operating lease assets were exchanged for lease liabilities
related to newly commenced leases, respectively.

The following table summarizes the Company’s lease assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:
 
   As of December 31,  
   2020    2019  
   (in thousands)  
Lease assets     

Operating lease assets   $25,118   $24,916 
Finance lease assets    4,934    5,571 

    
 

    
 

Total lease assets   $30,052   $30,487 
    

 
    

 

Lease liabilities     
Current     

Operating lease liabilities    6,209    5,902 
Finance lease liabilities    338    305 

Non-current     
Operating lease liabilities    22,127    21,650 
Finance lease liabilities    5,454    5,573 

    
 

    
 

Total lease liabilities   $34,128   $33,430 
    

 

    

 

The following table summarizes other supplemental information related to the Company’s lease obligations:
 
   As of December 31,  
   2020   2019  
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)    

Operating leases    6.8   7.2 
Finance leases    13.4   14.2 

Weighted average discount rate    
Operating leases    5.4%   5.5% 
Finance leases    7.7%   7.6% 
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The Company’s future minimum annual lease payments under operating and finance leases as of December 31, 2020 are as follows:
 
   Operating Leases   Finance Leases 
   (in thousands)  
2021    6,209    787 
2022    5,903    749 
2023    4,415    749 
2024    4,183    746 
2025    4,102    746 

Thereafter    10,560    5,665 
    

 
    

 

Total lease payments   $ 35,372   $ 9,442 
Future cash lease incentives    746    —   
Less amounts representing interest    6,290    3,650 

    
 

    
 

Total lease obligations   $ 28,336   $ 5,792 
    

 

    

 

Note 12: Sale of Priority Review Voucher

In April 2019, the Company sold the rare pediatric disease PRV it received from the FDA in connection with the United States approval of
Epidiolex to Biohaven Pharmaceutical Holding Ltd. for consideration of $105.0 million. The net proceeds of $104.1 million from the sale of the PRV
was recognized as a gain on the sale of an intangible asset within other income on the consolidated statements of operations, as the PRV did not have a
carrying value on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at the time of sale.

Note 13: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data (Unaudited)

The following interim financial information reflects all normal recurring adjustments necessary to fairly present the Company’s quarterly
financial results.

The summarized quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, are as follows:
 
   March 31,   June 30,   September 30,   December 31, 
   2020   2020   2020   2020  
      (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)     
Revenue   $120,633  $ 121,297  $ 137,053  $ 148,222 
Operating loss    (7,193)   (9,039)   (12,721)   (22,812) 
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders   $ (7,965)  $ (8,828)  $ (12,188)  $ (29,147) 
Net loss per ordinary share, basic and diluted   $ (0.02)  $ (0.02)  $ (0.03)  $ (0.08) 
Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted    373,831   375,525   376,281   376,680 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   March 31,   June 30,   September 30,   December 31, 
   2019   2019   2019   2019  
      (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)     
Revenue   $ 39,247  $ 72,038  $ 90,971  $ 109,076 
Operating loss    (51,337)   (29,322)   (17,658)   (20,108) 
Net (loss) income attributable to ordinary shareholders    (50,064)   79,748   (13,757)   (24,946) 
Net (loss) income per ordinary share, basic    (0.14)   0.21   (0.04)   (0.07) 
Net (loss) income per ordinary share, diluted    (0.14)   0.21   (0.04)   (0.07) 
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic    369,823   371,712   372,246   372,447 
Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted    369,823   377,435   372,246   372,447 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
26



Note 14: Transition Period

The Company is presenting audited financial statements for the three months ended December 31, 2018. The following tables provide
certain unaudited comparative financial information for the same period of the prior year.
 
   Three Months Ended December 31,  
   2018   2017  
   (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)  
Revenues    

Product net sales   $ 6,617  $ 2,220 
Other revenue    37   1,772 

    
 

   
 

Total revenues    6,654   3,992 
Operating expenses    

Cost of product sales    1,829   1,171 
Research and development    29,086   36,195 
Selling, general and administrative    49,083   25,174 

    
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    79,998   62,540 
    

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (73,344)   (58,548) 
Interest income    2,449   604 
Interest expense    (295)   (314) 
Foreign exchange (loss) gain    (982)   160 

    
 

   
 

Loss before income taxes    (72,172)   (58,098) 
Income tax (benefit) expense    (266)   3,718 

    
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (71,906)  $ (61,816) 
    

 
   

 

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted   $ (0.20)  $ (0.20) 
    

 
   

 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted    366,458   313,730 
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   Three Months Ended December 31,  
   2018   2017  
   (in thousands)  
Cash flows from operating activities    
Net loss   $ (71,906)  $ (61,816) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:    

Foreign exchange loss (gain)    742   (180) 
Stock-based compensation    9,683   5,592 
Depreciation and amortization    2,534   2,163 
Deferred income taxes    (1,265)   (1,152) 
Other    —     8 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Accounts receivable, net    (2,125)   (223) 
Inventory    (14,460)   378 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    (3,635)   (516) 
Other assets    (47)   (166) 
Accounts payable    (1,211)   (1,802) 
Current tax liabilities    878   4,898 
Accrued liabilities    5,942   3,004 
Other current liabilities    93   (2,071) 
Long-term liabilities    317   325 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (74,460)   (51,558) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Additions to property, plant and equipment    (18,687)   (7,748) 
Additions to capitalized software    (63)   (993) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment    —     —   

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (18,750)   (8,741) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares, net of issuance costs    324,638   297,932 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    —     1 
Payments on build-to-suit financing obligation    —     (26) 
Payments on capital leases    (40)   (39) 
Payments on landlord financing obligation    (130)   (125) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    324,468   297,743 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    5,326   (371) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    236,584   237,073 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    354,913   322,154 

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 591,497  $ 559,227 
    

 

   

 

Note 15: Subsequent Events

On February 3, 2021, the Company entered into a definitive agreement with Jazz Pharmaceuticals plc (Jazz), under which Jazz will
acquire all the outstanding share capital of the GW Pharmaceuticals plc for $200 in cash and $20 in Jazz Ordinary Shares for each GW Pharmaceuticals
plc ADS (or $16.67 in cash and $1.67 in Jazz Ordinary Shares for each GW Pharmaceuticals plc Ordinary Share).
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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share data)
(unaudited)

 
   March 31,   December 31, 
   2021   2020  
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 458,101  $ 486,752 
Accounts receivable, net    84,947   71,168 
Inventory    137,627   129,138 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    38,058   42,472 

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    718,733   729,530 
    

 
   

 

Property, plant, and equipment, net    149,591   143,767 
Operating lease assets    24,036   25,118 
Intangible assets, net    5,271   5,565 
Goodwill    6,959   6,959 
Deferred tax assets    20,775   20,777 
Other assets    8,978   7,795 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 934,343  $ 939,511 
    

 

   

 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity    
Accounts payable   $ 16,672  $ 21,870 
Accrued liabilities    136,101   127,849 
Current tax liabilities    420   877 
Other current liabilities    7,053   9,210 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    160,246   159,806 
    

 
   

 

Long-term liabilities:    
Finance lease liabilities    5,413   5,454 
Operating lease liabilities    21,373   22,127 
Other liabilities    10,938   11,034 

    
 

   
 

Total long-term liabilities    37,724   38,615 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities    197,970   198,421 
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)    
Stockholders’ equity:    
Ordinary shares par value £0.001; 378,505,496 shares outstanding as of March 31, 2021; 375,196,172 shares

outstanding as of December 31, 2020    583   577 
Additional paid-in capital    1,702,578   1,690,151 
Accumulated deficit    (915,764)   (896,087) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (51,024)   (53,551) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    736,373   741,090 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 934,343  $ 939,511 
    

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)

 
   

Three Months Ended
March 31,  

   2021   2020  
Revenues    

Product net sales   $152,443  $120,532 
Other revenue    23   101 

    
 

   
 

Total revenues    152,466   120,633 
Operating expenses    

Cost of product sales    11,807   10,769 
Research and development    60,634   45,874 
Selling, general and administrative    101,052   71,183 

    
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    173,493   127,826 
    

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (21,027)   (7,193) 
Interest income    146   1,269 
Interest expense    (286)   (284) 
Foreign exchange loss    (573)   (20) 

    
 

   
 

Loss before income taxes    (21,740)   (6,228) 
Income tax (benefit) expense    (2,063)   1,737 

    
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (19,677)  $ (7,965) 
    

 
   

 

Net loss per share:    
Basic   $ (0.05)  $ (0.02) 

    

 

   

 

Diluted   $ (0.05)  $ (0.02) 
    

 

   

 

Weighted average shares outstanding:    
Basic    378,566   373,831 
Diluted    378,566   373,831 

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 
   

Three Months Ended
March 31,  

   2021   2020  
Net loss   $(19,677)  $ (7,965) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments    2,527   (14,428) 
    

 
   

 

Comprehensive loss   $(17,150)  $(22,393) 
    

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 
                 Accumulated     
           Additional      Other   Total  
   Common Stock    Paid-in   Accumulated  Comprehensive  Stockholders’ 
   Shares    Amount   Capital   Deficit   Loss   Equity  
Balances at December 31, 2020    375,196   $ 577   $1,690,151  $ (896,087)  $ (53,551)  $ 741,090 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options    3,309    6    2,324   —      —      2,330 
Net loss    —       —       —      (19,677)   —      (19,677) 
Common stock withheld for employee tax obligations        (7,685)     (7,685) 
Share-based compensation    —       —       17,788   —      —      17,788 
Other comprehensive loss    —       —       —      —      2,527   2,527 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at March 31, 2021    378,505   $ 583   $1,702,578  $ (915,764)  $ (51,024)  $ 736,373 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

                 Accumulated     
           Additional      Other   Total  
   Common Stock    Paid-in   Accumulated  Comprehensive  Stockholders’ 
   Shares    Amount   Capital   Deficit   Loss   Equity  
Balances at December 31, 2019    371,069   $ 570   $1,632,046  $ (837,959)  $ (68,623)  $ 726,034 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options    1,493    3    —      —      —      3 
Net loss    —       —       —      (7,965)   —      (7,965) 
Share-based compensation    —       —       11,361   —      —      11,361 
Other comprehensive loss    —       —       —      —      (14,428)   (14,428) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at March 31, 2020    372,562   $ 573   $1,643,407  $ (845,924)  $ (83,051)  $ 715,005 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements
 

4



GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 
   Three Months Ended March 31,  
   2021   2020  
Cash flows from operating activities    
Net loss   $ (19,677)  $ (7,965) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:    

Foreign exchange loss    543   60 
Share-based compensation    17,788   11,361 
Depreciation and amortization    3,849   2,656 
Other    1   27 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Accounts receivable, net    (13,803)   (13,630) 
Inventory    (7,912)   (8,928) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    6,367   5,377 
Other assets    993   885 
Accounts payable    (3,887)   8,585 
Current tax liabilities    (2,221)   1,726 
Accrued liabilities    9,147   (16,953) 
Other liabilities    (2,910)   (1,799) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (11,722)   (18,598) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Additions to property, plant and equipment    (7,936)   (6,361) 
Additions to capitalized software    (2,889)   (535) 
Additions to intangible assets - licenses    —      (6,404) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (10,825)   (13,300) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    2,330   3 
Payments in connection with common stock withheld for employee tax obligation    (7,685)   —    
Payments on finance leases    (85)   (73) 
Payments on landlord financing obligation    (166)   (143) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in financing activities    (5,606)   (213) 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    (498)   (3,887) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (28,651)   (35,998) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    486,752   536,933 

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 458,101  $ 500,935 
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:    
Income taxes paid    119   10 
Interest paid    286   285 
Supplemental disclosure of noncash information:    
Property and equipment purchases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities    408   1,661 
Right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for operating liabilities    123   275 

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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GW PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

Note 1: Business Overview

GW Pharmaceuticals plc and its subsidiaries (referred to herein as “we,” “us,” “our,” and the “Company”) is a biopharmaceutical company
focused on discovering, developing and commercializing novel therapeutics from our proprietary cannabinoid product platform in a broad range of
disease areas. The Company is developing a portfolio of cannabinoid medicines, of which the lead product is Epidiolex®, an oral medicine for the
treatment of certain refractory childhood epilepsies.

The Company is a public limited company, which has American Depository Shares (ADSs) registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) and has been listed on Nasdaq since May 1, 2013. The Company’s ADSs each represent twelve ordinary shares of GW
Pharmaceuticals plc. The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business is Sovereign House, Vision Park, Histon, Cambridgeshire.

On February 3, 2021, the Company entered into a transaction agreement (the Transaction Agreement) with Jazz Pharmaceuticals Public Limited
Company, a public limited company incorporated in Ireland (Jazz), and Jazz Pharmaceuticals UK Holdings Limited, a private limited company
incorporated in England and Wales and a wholly owned subsidiary of Jazz (Bidco), under which Bidco has agreed to acquire the entire issued and to be
issued share capital of the Company by means of a court-sanctioned scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the U.K. Companies Act 2006, subject to
the conditions described therein (the Scheme of Arrangement and such acquisition, the Transaction). On April 23, 2021, the Company held a meeting of
shareholders convened with the permission of the High Court of Justice of England and Wales (the Court Meeting) and a general meeting of
shareholders (the General Meeting and, together with the Court Meeting, the Shareholder Meetings), in each case in connection with the Transaction. At
the Shareholder Meetings, the proposals required to be approved by the Company’s shareholders in order to complete the Transaction were each
approved. Completion of the Transaction remains subject to the sanction by the High Court of Justice of England and Wales (the Court) and other
customary closing conditions. The Court hearing to sanction the Transaction is currently scheduled for May 5, 2021, and the completion of the
Transaction is expected to occur shortly thereafter.

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X.
Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete annual financial statements. In the
Company’s opinion, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, consisting of only normal
recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial statements for interim periods.

The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 was derived from audited annual financial statements but does not include all
annual disclosures required by U.S. GAAP. These interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2020 included in the Company’s Form 10-K. The results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year or any other future periods.

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact our business, results of operations and financial condition,
including sales, expenses, reserves and allowances, manufacturing, clinical trials, research and development costs and employee-related amounts, will
depend on future developments that are highly uncertain, including as a result of new information that may emerge concerning COVID-19 and the
actions taken to contain it or treat COVID-19, as well as the economic impact on local, regional, national and international customers and markets. We
have made estimates of the impact of COVID-19 within our financial statements and there may be changes to those estimates in future periods. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, interest and other receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
approximate fair value due to the relative short-term nature of these instruments. The Company’s foreign exchange derivatives are measured at fair value
using observable market inputs such as forward exchange rates and are therefore classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded net of customer allowances for prompt payment discounts, chargebacks, and doubtful accounts. Allowances for
prompt payment discounts and chargebacks are based on contractual terms. The Company estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts based on
existing contractual payment terms, actual payment patterns of its customers and individual customer circumstances. As of March 31, 2021, the
allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.8 million. At December 31, 2020, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.3 million. No accounts were
written off during the periods presented.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value. The Company uses a combination of standard and actual costing
methodologies to determine the cost basis for its inventories which approximates actual cost. Inventory is valued on a first-in, first-out basis. The
Company reduces its inventory to net realizable value for potentially excess, dated or obsolete inventory based on an analysis of forecasted demand
compared to quantities on hand, as well as product shelf life.

Our inventory production process includes the cultivation of botanical raw material. Because of the duration of the cultivation process, a portion
of our inventory will not be sold within one year. Consistent with the practice in other industries that cultivate botanical raw materials, all inventory is
classified as a current asset.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when its customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration
which the entity is entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that an entity determines are
within the scope of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), the entity performs the
following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction
price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation. The Company only applies the five-step model to contracts when it is probable that the entity will collect the consideration it is
entitled to in exchange for the goods or services it transfers to the customer. At contract inception, once the contract is determined to be within the scope
of Topic 606, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within each contract and determines those that are performance obligations and
assesses whether each promised good or service is distinct. The Company then recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated
to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.
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Revenue for the Company’s product sales has not been adjusted for the effects of a financing component as the Company expects, at contract
inception, that the period between when the Company’s transfers control of the product and when the Company receives payment will be one year or
less. Product shipping and handling costs are included in cost of product sales.

Epidiolex Product Net Sales

In the United States, the Company sells Epidiolex to specialty pharmacies (SPs) and specialty distributors (SDs). The Company recognizes
revenue from product sales upon receipt of product at the SPs and SDs, the date at which the control is transferred, net of the following allowances
which are reflected either as a reduction to the related account receivable or as an accrued liability, depending on how the allowance is settled:

Distribution Fees: Distribution fees include distribution service fees paid to the SPs and SDs based on a contractually fixed percentage of the
wholesale acquisition cost (WAC), and prompt payment discounts. Distribution fees are recorded as an offset to revenue based on contractual terms at
the time revenue from the sale is recognized.

Rebates: Allowances for rebates include mandated discounts under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and the Medicare Part D prescription drug
benefit, and contractual rebates with commercial payers. Rebates are amounts owed after the final dispensing of the product to a benefit plan participant
and are based upon contractual agreements or statutory requirements. The allowance for rebates is based on contracted or statutory discount rates and
expected utilization by benefit plan participants. The Company’s estimates for expected utilization of rebates is based on utilization data received from
the SPs since product launch. Rebates are generally invoiced and paid in arrears so that the accrual balance consists of an estimate of the amount
expected to be incurred for the current quarter’s activity, plus an accrual balance for prior quarters’ unpaid rebates. If actual future rebates vary from
estimates, the Company may need to adjust prior period accruals, which would affect revenue in the period of adjustment.

Chargebacks: Chargebacks are discounts and fees that relate to contracts with government and other entities purchasing from the SDs at a
discounted price. The SDs charge back to the Company the difference between the price initially paid by the SDs and the discounted price paid to the
SDs by these entities. The Company also incurs group purchasing organization fees for transactions through certain purchasing organizations. The
Company estimates sales with these entities and accrues for anticipated chargebacks and organization fees, based on the applicable contractual terms. If
actual future chargebacks vary from these estimates, the Company may need to adjust prior period accruals, which would affect revenue in the period of
adjustment.

Co-Payment Assistance: The Company offers co-payment assistance to commercially insured patients meeting certain eligibility requirements.
Co-payment assistance is accrued for based on actual program participation and estimates of program redemption using data provided by third-party
administrators.

Product Returns: Consistent with industry practice, the Company offers the SPs and SDs limited product return rights for damages, shipment
errors, and expiring product, provided that the return is within a specified period around the product expiration date as set forth in the applicable
individual distribution agreement. The Company does not allow product returns for product that has been dispensed to a patient. As the Company
receives inventory reports from the SPs and SDs and has the ability to control the amount of product that is sold to the SPs and SDs, it is able to make a
reasonable estimate of future potential product returns based on this on-hand channel inventory data and sell-through data obtained from the SPs and
SDs. In arriving at its estimate, the Company also considers historical product returns, the underlying product demand, and industry data specific to the
specialty pharmaceutical distribution industry.

The Company has launched Epidyolex in Germany and the U.K. and recognizes revenue from product sales in Europe upon delivery of the
product, which is the point at which control of the goods is transferred to the customer. The Company recognizes revenue net of standard discounts and
allowances, which are reflected as accrued liabilities.
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The Company also sells Epidiolex in certain markets outside of the United States under early access programs that enable patients to receive the
product prior to regulatory approval. Revenue under early access programs is generally recognized when the product is delivered.

The total amount deducted from gross sales for the allowances described above for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 was
$51.3 million and $31.1 million, respectively.

Sativex Product Net Sales

Sativex is sold outside of the United States for the treatment of spasticity due to multiple sclerosis, or MS, pursuant to license agreements with
commercial partners and, beginning in the first quarter of 2020, directly to customers in the U.K.

Under the license agreements, the Company sells fully labeled Sativex vials to its commercial partners for a contractually agreed price, which is
generally based on percentages of the commercial partners’ in-market net selling price charged to end customers. Product net sales revenue related to
Sativex shipments to commercial license partners is recognized when shipped, at which point the customer obtains control of the product.

In the U.K., the Company recognizes revenue from product sales of Sativex upon delivery of the product, which is the point at which control of
the goods is transferred to the customer. The Company recognizes revenue net of standard discounts and allowances, which are reflected as accrued
liabilities.

The Company also commercializes Sativex in Australia and New Zealand through a consignment relationship with a local distributor. Product net
sales revenues related to Sativex sales in Australia and New Zealand are recognized when the product is sold through to the end customer.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses are charged to operations as incurred. Research and development expenses include, among other things,
internal and external costs associated with preclinical development, pre-commercialization manufacturing expenses, and clinical trials. The Company
accrues for costs incurred as the services are being provided by monitoring the status of the trial or services provided and the invoices received from its
external service providers. In the case of clinical trials, a portion of the estimated cost normally relates to the projected cost to treat a patient in the trials,
and this cost is recognized based on the number of patients enrolled in the trial. As actual costs become known, the Company adjusts its accruals
accordingly.

Research and development expense is presented net of reimbursements from reimbursable tax and expenditure credits from the U.K.government.
Reimbursable research and development tax and expenditure credits were $1.1 million and $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively.
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Concentration Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, principally consist of cash, cash equivalents, and
accounts receivable. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balances are primarily in depository accounts and money market funds at major financial
institutions in accordance with the Company’s investment policy. The Company’s investment policy defines allowable investments and establishes
guidelines relating to credit quality, diversification, and maturities of its investments to preserve principal and maintain liquidity. Further, the Company
specifies credit quality standards for its customers that are designed to limit the Company’s credit exposure to any single party.

Share-based Compensation

The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense for grants of stock options under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plans to
employees and non-employee members of the Company’s board of directors based on the grant-date fair value of those awards. The grant-date fair value
of an award is generally recognized as compensation expense over the award’s requisite service period. Expense related to awards with graded vesting is
generally recognized over the vesting period using the accelerated attribution method.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the
Company’s assets and liabilities along with net operating loss and tax credit carryovers. The Company records a valuation allowance against its deferred
tax assets to reduce the net carrying value to an amount that it believes is more likely than not to be realized. When the Company establishes or reduces
the valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, its provision for income taxes will increase or decrease, respectively, in the period such
determination is made.

Uncertain tax positions, for which management’s assessment is that there is more than a 50% probability of sustaining the position upon challenge
by a taxing authority based upon its technical merits, are subjected to certain recognition and measurement criteria. The Company re-evaluates uncertain
tax positions and considers various factors, including, but not limited to, changes in tax law, the measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be
taken in tax returns, and changes in facts or circumstances related to a tax position. The Company adjusts the level of the liability to reflect any
subsequent changes in the relevant facts and circumstances surrounding the uncertain positions. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related
to income tax matters in income tax expense.

On March 11, 2021, the President of the United States signed the American Rescue Plan into law. The new law contains corporate tax revenue
raising provisions including expanding the list of “covered employees” under IRC Section 162(m) for the limitation on the deduction for excessive
employee remuneration. The Company is evaluating the legislation and does not expect any material impact to the financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes: Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes: In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Simplifying
the Accounting for Income Taxes, as part of its initiative to reduce complexity in accounting standards. The amendments in the ASU are effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods therein. The adoption of the ASU had an immaterial impact on the Company’s
interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Note 3: Sativex License Agreements

The Company has entered into license agreements for Sativex with major pharmaceutical companies that provide the license partners with
exclusive rights in a defined geographic territory to commercialize Sativex for all indications. The Company has retained the exclusive right to
manufacture and supply Sativex to license partners on commercial supply terms for the duration of the commercial life of the product. In the first quarter
of 2020, the Company reacquired the rights to commercialize Sativex in the U.K. from Bayer AG for approximately $6.4 million. The Company
capitalized the cost to reacquire the license as an intangible asset and will amortize the asset over its five-year estimated useful life.
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In 2007, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Otsuka) for the development and
commercialization of Sativex in the United States. In December 2017, the Company entered into a mutual termination agreement with Otsuka to return
the rights to develop and commercialize Sativex in the United States to the Company. As part of the termination agreement, the Company agreed to pay
Otsuka a contingent future milestone payment of $10 million if Sativex achieves FDA approval in the U.S. and a total of $30 million of potential sales-
based milestones if U.S. sales of Sativex reach certain thresholds. As of March 31, 2021, no amounts have been accrued related to the contingent
payments because it is not probable that the milestones will be achieved.

Note 4: Fair Value Measurements

At March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company’s cash equivalents consisted of money market funds, which are classified as Level 1
within the fair value hierarchy defined by authoritative guidance.

The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts, with durations of up to 12 months, designed to limit the exposure to fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates related to the translation of certain non-U.S. dollar cash flows. Hedge accounting is not applied to these derivative instruments.
At March 31, 2021 the Company had foreign exchange derivative assets with an aggregate notional amount of $90.0 million and aggregate fair value of
$0.5 million, which are classified as other current assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets. For the three months ended March 31, 2021,
$0.5 million fair value gain was recognized and is included within foreign exchange loss on the statement of operations. The foreign exchange derivative
instruments are measured at fair value using observable market inputs such as forward exchange rates and are classified within Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. The Company did not hold any foreign exchange derivatives as December 31, 2020.

The Company has not transferred any securities between the classification levels.

Note 5: Composition of Certain Balance Sheet Captions:

Inventory consisted of the following:
 
   March 31,    December 31, 
   2021    2020  
   (in thousands)  
Raw materials   $ 3,168   $ 2,691 
Work in process    124,702    112,662 
Finished goods    9,757    13,785 

    
 

    
 

  $137,627   $ 129,138 
    

 

    

 

Property, plant and equipment, net, consisted of the following:
 

   March 31,   December 31, 
   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  
Buildings   $ 16,100  $ 15,957 
Machinery and equipment    52,069   51,021 
Leasehold improvements    50,688   49,516 
Office and IT equipment    7,220   5,890 
Construction-in-process    76,934   71,441 

    
 

   
 

   203,011   193,825 
Accumulated depreciation    (53,420)   (50,058) 

    
 

   
 

  $149,591  $ 143,767 
    

 
   

 

    
 

   
 

Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment was $2.9 million and $2.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The Company did not have any significant property, plant, or equipment write-offs in the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:
 
   March 31,    December 31, 
   2021    2020  
   (in thousands)  
Accrued compensation and benefits   $ 25,763   $ 34,830 
Accrued vendor fees    25,352    31,445 
Clinical trial accruals    14,128    14,845 
Accrued growing fees    3,139    3,363 
Accrued sales rebates and discounts    51,458    37,403 
Other    16,261    5,963 

    
 

    
 

  $136,101   $ 127,849 
    

 

    

 

Other current liabilities consisted of the following:
 
   March 31,   December 31, 
   2021    2020  
   (in thousands)  
Finance lease liabilities   $ 346   $ 338 
Operating lease liabilities    5,934    6,209 
Landlord financing    683    665 
Other    90    1,998 

    
 

    
 

  $ 7,053   $ 9,210 
    

 

    

 

Other liabilities consisted of the following:
 
   March 31,   December 31, 
   2021    2020  
   (in thousands)  
Landlord financing obligation   $ 8,747   $ 8,844 
Other    2,191    2,190 

    
 

    
 

  $ 10,938   $ 11,034 
    

 

    

 

Note 6: Earnings Per Share

The computation of basic earnings per share (EPS) is based on the weighted-average number of our ordinary shares outstanding. For the purpose
of this calculation, vested nominal strike-price options are considered ordinary shares outstanding. The computation of diluted EPS is based on the
weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding and potentially dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period, primarily shares
that may be issued under the Company’s stock option plans, determined using the treasury stock method.

The Company incurred net losses for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and therefore did not include potentially dilutive common stock
equivalents in the computation of diluted net loss per share. For the three months ended March 31, 2021, options totaling approximately 16.1 million
ordinary shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. For the three months ended
March 31, 2020, options totaling approximately 13.7 million ordinary shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their
effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 7: Share-Based Compensation

Compensation expense for share-based awards is recognized over the requisite service period using the accelerated attribution method. An
estimated forfeiture rate has been applied to unvested awards for the purpose of calculating compensation cost. Changes in forfeiture estimates impact
compensation cost in the period in which the change in estimate occurs.
 

12



The fair value of stock option awards is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The determination of fair value using the Black-
Scholes model is affected by the Company’s ADS price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables, including
expected ADS price volatility, risk-free interest rate, expected dividends and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors.

The Company estimates its stock price volatility using a combination of historical stock price volatility and the average implied volatility of
options traded in the open market. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on observed interest rates for the appropriate term of the Company’s
stock options. The Company has never declared or paid dividends and has no plans to do so in the foreseeable future. The expected option life
assumption is estimated using the simplified method prescribed by ASC Topic 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, and is based on the mid-point
between vest date and expiration date since the Company does not have sufficient exercise history to estimate expected option life of historical grants.

The table below summarizes the total share-based compensation expense included in the Company’s statements of operations for the periods
presented:
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2021    2020  
   (in thousands)  
Research and development   $ 4,187   $ 2,299 
Sales, general and administrative    12,644    8,260 

    
 

    
 

  $16,831   $10,559 
    

 

    

 

For the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, $1.0 million and $0.8 million of share-based compensation related to manufacturing
operations was capitalized into inventory, respectively.

Note 8: Commitments and Contingencies

As of March 31, 2021, the Company was not a party to any material legal proceedings except as follows: In 2007, the Company entered into a
research collaboration agreement with Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., or Otsuka, which expired in June 2013. Otsuka has contacted the Company to
assert that it is owed royalty payments under the agreement up to 2% of Epidiolex net sales. While the Company believes Otsuka’s position is without
merit, the Company cannot predict the outcome of this matter and cannot provide assurances that the Company will be successful, in whole or in part, in
its efforts.

On December 23, 2020, Canopy Growth Corporation filed suit against us in the Western District of Texas, alleging infringement of U.S. Patent
No. 10,870,632. Canopy alleges that the process we used to make the crude cannabinoid extract that is used to make Epidiolex is within the scope of its
patent. We dispute Canopy’s claims and intend to defend the matter vigorously.

Since the initial filing of the Company’s proxy statement related to the Jazz Transaction (the Proxy Statement), the following 11 complaints have
been filed in federal courts in California, New York and Pennsylvania by purported shareholders of the Company against GW and the members of GW’s
board of directors, and in one instance against Jazz and Bidco, in connection with the Jazz transaction: Farrell v. GW Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Case
No. 1:21-cv-02344 (filed March 17, 2021) (S.D.N.Y.), Hinton v. GW Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Case No. 1:21-cv-02379 (filed March 18, 2021)
(S.D.N.Y.), Brady v. GW Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Case No. 1:21-cv-02382 (filed March 18, 2021) (S.D.N.Y.), Warren v. GW Pharmaceuticals plc, et
al., Case No. 1:21-cv-02536 (filed March 24, 2021) (S.D.N.Y.), Goodman v. GW Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Case No. 1:21-cv-01574 (filed March 25,
2021) (E.D.N.Y.), Kent v. GW Pharmaceuticals, plc, et al., Case No. 3:21-cv-00530 (filed March 26, 2021) (S.D. Cal.), Coffman v. GW Pharmaceuticals
plc, et al., Case No. 3:21-cv-00537 (filed March 26, 2021) (S.D. Cal.), Shubitowski v. GW Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Case No. 1:21-cv-02668 (filed
March 29, 2021) (S.D.N.Y.), Hurlbut v. GW Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Case No. 2:21-cv-01500 (filed March 30, 2021) (E.D. Pa.), Olesky v. GW
Pharmaceuticals, plc, et al., Case No. 1:21-cv-02741 (filed March 31, 2021) (S.D.N.Y.), and Ochoa v. GW Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Case No.
3:21-cv-00580 (filed April 2, 2021) (S.D. Cal.) (collectively, the Federal Shareholder Litigation). Each of the complaints in the Federal Shareholder
Litigation includes allegations that, among other things, the Proxy Statement omitted certain material information in connection with the Jazz
transaction in violation of Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 14a-9 promulgated under the Exchange Act, and one of those
complaints also purports to allege claims that the members of GW’s board of directors breached fiduciary duties in connection with the Jazz transaction,
and that GW, Jazz and Bidco aided and abetted those alleged breaches. An additional lawsuit, filed in state court in New York, alleged misrepresentation
and concealment claims under New York common law relating to the Proxy Statement: Levy v. Guy, et al., Case No. 603237/2021 (filed March 17,
2021) (N.Y. Sup. Nassau Cty.).
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The plaintiffs seek various remedies, including injunctive relief to prevent the consummation of the Jazz transaction unless certain allegedly material
information is disclosed, rescission and/or other damages and an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses. On April 14, 2021, GW filed supplemental
disclosures to the Proxy Statement on a Current Report on Form 8-K, in response to which five of the 11 federal complaints were voluntarily dismissed
without prejudice, and the New York state action was voluntarily discontinued with prejudice.

The Company is not aware of any other proceedings or claims that it believes will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect
on its business, financial condition or results of operations.
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Exhibit 99.4

Jazz Pharmaceuticals Plc

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and for the year ended
December 31, 2020



UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On February 3, 2021, Jazz Pharmaceuticals Public Limited Company, or Jazz, entered into a Transaction Agreement, or the Transaction
Agreement, with GW Pharmaceuticals plc, or GW, and Jazz Pharmaceuticals UK Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Jazz, or
Bidco, pursuant to which Bidco (and/or, at Bidco’s election, Bidco’s nominee(s)) acquired the entire issued share capital of GW, or the Acquisition, on
May 5, 2021, or the Closing Date, pursuant to a scheme of arrangement, or the Scheme under Part 26 of the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006. The
aggregate consideration for the Acquisition was $7.2 billion.

On April 29, 2021, Jazz Securities Designated Activity Company, a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Jazz, closed an offering of $1.5 billion in
aggregate principal amount of 4.375% senior secured notes, due 2029, or the Notes. Jazz used the proceeds from the Notes to fund, in part, the cash
consideration payable in connection with the Acquisition.

On the Closing Date, Jazz, Jazz Financing Lux S.à.r.l., or Jazz Lux, and certain other subsidiaries of Jazz, as borrowers, entered into a Credit
Agreement, or the Credit Agreement, with the lenders and issuing banks from time to time party thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent and U.S. Bank National Association, as Collateral Trustee.

The Credit Agreement provides for (i) a seven-year $3.1 billion term loan B facility, which was drawn by Jazz Lux on the Closing Date in U.S.
dollars, or the Dollar Term Loan, (ii) a seven-year €625 million ($750 million equivalent) term loan B facility, which was drawn by Jazz Lux on the
Closing Date in Euros, or the Euro Term Loan and, together with the Dollar Term Loan, collectively known as the Term Loan and (iii) a five-year
$500 million revolving credit facility, or the Revolving Credit Facility, which is available to be drawn by any borrower in U.S. dollars. As of the Closing
Date, the Revolving Credit Facility was undrawn.

Jazz used the proceeds from the Term Loan (i) to repay loans under that certain credit agreement, dated as of June 18, 2015 (as amended) among
Jazz and certain other subsidiaries of Jazz as borrowers, the lenders party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral
agent, or the Existing Credit Agreement, (ii) to fund, in part, the cash consideration payable in connection with the Acquisition and (iii) to pay related
fees and expenses. The Borrowers expect to use future loans under the Revolving Credit Facility, if any, for general corporate purposes, including
potential business development activities. Upon the repayment in full of loans under the Existing Credit Agreement, the Existing Credit Agreement was
terminated and all guarantees and liens thereunder were released.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and related notes, or the Pro Forma Financial Information, are
based on the historical consolidated financial statements of Jazz and GW. The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared to illustrate the
effects of the Acquisition, including the financing arrangements effected to partially fund the Acquisition, as if it had occurred on January 1, 2020 in
respect of the pro forma condensed combined statement of operations, or Pro Forma Statement of Operations, and as if it had occurred on March 31,
2021 in respect of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet, or Pro Forma Balance Sheet. The Pro Forma Financial Information has
been developed from and should be read in conjunction with Jazz’s and GW’s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2020, and Jazz’s and GW’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes as of and for the three
months ended March 31, 2021.

Jazz’s consolidated balance sheet and statement of income information as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was derived from its
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the three-month period ended March 31, 2021 included in the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2021, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Jazz’s consolidated statement of income
information for the year ended December 31, 2020 was derived from its audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020
included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

GW’s consolidated balance sheet and statement of operations information as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was derived from
its unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the three-month period ended March 31, 2021 included in Exhibit 99.3 to the current
report on Form 8-K/A, or the Jazz Form 8-K/A, to which these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are attached as Exhibit
99.4. GW’s consolidated statement of operations information for the year ended December 31, 2020 was derived from its audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 included in Exhibit 99.2 to the Jazz Form 8-K/A.
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The pro forma adjustments related to the Acquisition and related financing arrangements include:
 

 
•  a cash payment of $6.3 billion to GW shareholders in respect of American Depositary Shares issued by the depositary in respect of GW, or

GW ADSs, and a cash payment of $267.5 million (inclusive of payroll taxes) to settle GW share options that became exercisable on
closing of the Acquisition;

 

 
•  the issuance of approximately 3.8 million Jazz ordinary shares, par value $0.0001 per share, or Jazz Ordinary Shares, valued at

$608.5 million, to GW shareholders in respect of GW ADSs and the issuance of Jazz share options in exchange for GW share options
attributable to pre-combination service valued at $3.6 million;

 

 •  the borrowings comprised of the Term Loan and the Notes, each further described in Note 5;
 

 •  the payment of $575.9 million to repay the term loan outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement, or the Existing Term Loan; and
 

 •  the impact of fair value adjustments to the underlying assets and liabilities of GW.

The Acquisition will be accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805, Business Combinations, or ASC 805. Jazz will be treated as the
acquiring entity for accounting purposes, and accordingly, the GW assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been adjusted based on preliminary
estimates of fair value, which are subject to change. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identified assets acquired and liabilities
assumed will be recognized as goodwill.

The unaudited pro forma adjustments are based upon a preliminary valuation and available information and certain assumptions that Jazz believes
to be reasonable, which are subject to change. The Pro Forma Financial Information is presented for informational purposes only, it does not purport to
represent what the actual consolidated results of operations or the consolidated financial position of the combined entity would have been had the
Acquisition occurred on the dates indicated, nor is it necessarily indicative of the combined financial position or results of operations that would have
been realized had the Acquisition occurred as of the dates indicated, nor is it meant to be indicative of any anticipated combined financial position or
future results of operations that the combined company will experience after the completion of the Acquisition. The Pro Forma Financial Information is
based on Jazz’s accounting policies.

The Pro Forma Financial Information does not reflect any adjustment for liabilities or related costs of any integration and similar activities, or
benefits, including potential synergies that may be derived in future periods, from the Acquisition.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2021

 
 

 
Historical

Jazz   
Historical

GW  

 Transaction accounting adjustments  

 

Total
Unaudited
Pro Forma
Combined  (in thousands)  PPA(4)   Financing(5)   Other(6)  

     Notes     Notes    Notes  
ASSETS  
Current assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents  $2,097,533  $ 458,101  $(6,243,690)   4(i)   $4,611,730   

5(i),
5(ii),
5(iii)

 
 
  $(184,065)   

6(i),
6(ii)

 
  $ 739,609

Investments   335,000   —     (335,000)   4(i)    —      —      —   
Accounts receivable, net of allowances   413,976   84,947   —      —      —      498,923
Inventories   115,475   137,627   1,062,627   4(vi)    —      —      1,315,729
Prepaid expenses   57,185   38,058   7,257   4(vii)   —      —      102,500
Other current assets   147,727   —     —      —      —      147,727

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total current assets   3,166,896   718,733   (5,508,806)    4,611,730    (184,065)    2,804,488
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Property, plant and equipment, net   123,863   149,591   —      —      —      273,454
Operating lease assets   125,738   24,036   —      —      —      149,774
Intangible assets, net   2,108,046   5,271   5,634,729   4(v)    —      —      7,748,046
Goodwill   938,398   6,959   842,087   4(iv)    —      79,957   6(ii)    1,867,401
Deferred tax assets, net   258,454   20,775   14,958   4(vii)   —      —      294,187

Deferred financing costs   4,724   —     —      9,389   
5(i),
5(ii)

 
   —      14,113

Other non-current assets   30,351   8,978   —      —      —      39,329
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total assets  $6,756,470  $ 934,343  $ 982,968   $4,621,119   $(104,108)   $13,190,792
   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
Current liabilities:          

Accounts payable  $ 77,738  $ 16,672  $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 94,410
Accrued liabilities   374,035   136,101   —      —      —      510,136
Current portion of long-term debt   248,613   —     —      (10,137)   5(iii)   —      238,476
Income taxes payable   49,334   420   —      —      (3,278)   6(ii)    46,476
Deferred revenue   2,373   —     —      —      —      2,373
Other current liabilities   —     7,053   —      —      —      7,053

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total current liabilities   752,093   160,246   —      (10,137)    (3,278)    898,924
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Deferred revenue, non-current   1,852   —     —      —      —      1,852
Long-term debt, less current portion   1,853,033   —     —      4,634,969   5(iv)   —      6,488,002
Finance lease liabilities   —     5,413   —      —      —      5,413

Operating lease liabilities, less current
portion   136,020   21,373   —      —      —      157,393

Deferred tax liabilities, net   109,915   —     1,104,692   4(vii)   —      —      1,214,607
Other non-current liabilities   105,868   10,938   2,638   4(vii)   —      —      119,444

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities   2,958,781   197,970   1,107,330    4,624,832    (3,278)    8,885,635
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Shareholder’s equity          
Ordinary shares   6   583   (583)    —      —      6
Non-voting euro deferred shares   55   —     —      —      —      55
Capital redemption reserve   472   —     —      —      —      472

Additional paid-in capital   2,694,858   1,702,578   (1,154,871)   
4(ii),
4(iii)

 
   —      64,304   6(iv)   3,306,869

Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (179,428)   (51,024)   51,024    —      —      (179,428) 

Retained earnings   1,281,726   (915,764)   980,068    (3,713)   5(ii)    (165,134)   
6(ii),
6(iv)

 
   1,177,183

Total shareholders’ equity   3,797,689   736,373   (124,362)    (3,713)    (100,830)    4,305,157
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity  $6,756,470  $ 934,343  $ 982,968   $4,621,119   $(104,108)   $13,190,792
   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2020

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
 
 

 
Historical

Jazz   
Historical

GW   Reclassifications(3) 

 Transaction accounting adjustments  

 

Total
Unaudited
Pro Forma
Combined    PPA(4)   Financing(5)   Other(6)  

      Notes    Notes    Notes   
Revenues:           

Product sales, net  $2,346,660  $526,830  $ —    $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 2,873,490
Royalties and contract
revenues   16,907   —     —     —      —      —      16,907
Other revenue   —     375   —     —      —      —      375

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total revenues   2,363,567   527,205   —     —      —      —      2,890,772
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Operating expenses:           
Cost of product sales
(excluding amortization
of acquired developed
technologies)   148,917   37,531   —     306,023   4(vi)   —      5,878   

6(iii),
6(iv)

 
   498,349

Selling, general and
administrative   854,233   336,043   (1,177)   —      —      313,203   

6(ii),
6(iii),
6(iv)

 
 
   1,502,302

Research and
development   335,375   205,396   —     —      —      34,405   

6(iii),
6(iv)

 
   575,176

Intangible asset
amortization   259,580   —     1,177   464,606   4(v)    —      —      725,363
Impairment charges   136,139   —     —     —      —      —      136,139
Acquired in-process
research and development  251,250   —     —     —      —      —      251,250

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total operating
expenses   1,985,494   578,970   —     770,629    —      353,486    3,688,579

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total income from operations   378,073   (51,765)   —     (770,629)    —      (353,486)    (797,807) 
Interest income   —     1,814   (1,814)   —      —      —      —   
Interest expense, net   (99,707)   (1,121)   1,814   —      (228,855)   5(v)    —      (327,869) 
Foreign exchange loss   (3,271)   (3,974)   —     —      —      —      (7,245) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Income (loss) before income
tax provision   275,095   (55,046)   —     (770,629)    (228,855)    (353,486)    (1,132,921) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Income tax provision
(benefit)   33,517   3,082   —     (149,671)   

4(v),
4(vi)

 
   (50,243)   5(vi)   (28,122)   

6(ii),
6(iii),
6(iv)

 
 
   (191,437) 

Equity in loss of
investees   2,962   —     —     —      —      —      2,962

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net income (loss)  $ 238,616  $ (58,128)  $ —    $(620,958)   $(178,612)   $(325,364)   $ (944,446) 
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Net income (loss) per ordinary
share:           

Basic EPS  $ 4.28          $ (15.87) 
   

 

           

 

Diluted EPS  $ 4.22          $ (15.87) 
   

 

           

 

Weighted-average ordinary
shares used in per share
calculation - basic (Note 7)   55,712           59,510

   

 

           

 

Weighted-average ordinary
shares used in per share
calculation - diluted (Note 7)   56,517           59,510

   

 

           

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations
For the three months ended March 31, 2021

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
 
 

 
Historical

Jazz   
Historical

GW   Reclassifications(3) 

 Transaction accounting adjustments  

 

Total
Unaudited
Pro Forma
Combined    PPA(4)   Financing(5)   Other(6)  

      Notes    Notes    Notes  
Revenues:           

Product sales, net  $603,531  $152,443  $ —    $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 755,974
Royalties and contract

revenues   4,050   —     —     —      —      —      4,050
Other revenue   —     23   —     —      —      —      23

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total revenues   607,581   152,466   —     —      —      —      760,047
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Operating expenses:           
Cost of product sales
(excluding amortization of
acquired developed
technologies)   40,189   11,807   —     79,418   4(vi)   —      392   6(iv)   131,806
Selling, general and
administrative   260,508   101,052   (345)   —      —      3,436   6(iv)   364,651
Research and development   76,573   60,634   —     —      —      1,637   6(iv)   138,844
Intangible asset

amortization   68,192   —     345   116,101   4(v)    —      —      184,638
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total operating expenses   445,462   173,493   —     195,519    —      5,465    819,939
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total income from operations   162,119   (21,027)   —     (195,519)    —      (5,465)    (59,892) 
Interest income   —     146   (146)   —      —      —      —   
Interest expense, net   (27,376)   (286)   146   —      (57,922)   5(v)   —      (85,438) 
Foreign exchange gain

(loss)   943   (573)   —     —      —      —      370
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Income (loss) before income tax
provision   135,686   (21,740)   —     (195,519)    (57,922)    (5,465)    (144,960) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Income tax provision
(benefit)   18,019   (2,063)   —     (37,148)   

4(v),
4(vi)

 
   (9,197)   5(vi)   (1,200)   6(iv)   (31,589) 

Equity in gain of investees   (4,165)   —     —     —      —      —      (4,165) 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Net income (loss)  $121,832  $ (19,677)  $ —    $(158,371)   $(48,725)   $(4,265)   $(109,206) 
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Net income (loss) per ordinary
share:           

Basic EPS  $ 2.16          $ (1.81) 
   

 

           

 

Diluted EPS  $ 2.09          $ (1.81) 
   

 

           

 

Weighted-average ordinary
shares used in per share
calculation - basic (Note 7)   56,468           60,266

   

 

           

 

Weighted-average ordinary
shares used in per share
calculation - diluted (Note 7)   58,393           60,266

   

 

           

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA
CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
1. Description of the Acquisition

On February 3, 2021, Jazz entered into the Transaction Agreement with GW and Bidco that provided for the acquisition of the entire issued and to
be issued share capital of GW by Bidco (and/or, at Bidco’s election, Jazz and/or the DR Nominee (as defined in the Transaction Agreement)). On May 5,
2021, the transaction was consummated pursuant to the Transaction Agreement and, as a result, GW became an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Jazz.

Under the Transaction Agreement, at the effective time of the Scheme, or the Effective Time, all Scheme Shares (as defined in the Scheme) were
transferred to Bidco (and/or, at Bidco’s election, Jazz and/or the DR Nominee), and the Share Scheme holders became entitled to receive for each
Scheme Share (as defined in the Scheme) held by them at such time an amount equal to $16.662/3 in cash plus 0.010030 ordinary shares, or Share
Deliverable, nominal value $0.0001 per share, of Jazz, or Jazz Ordinary Shares. In addition, because each GW ADS represented a beneficial interest in
12 Scheme Shares held by such depositary, holders of GW ADSs became entitled under such depositary arrangements to receive, for each GW ADS, 12
times the foregoing cash and share amounts, or (1) an amount equal to $200 in cash (less (a) a $0.05 per GW ADS cancellation fee, (b) a $0.05 per GW
ADS distribution fee, (c) any other fees and expenses payable by such holders pursuant to the terms of the deposit agreement, dated as of May 7, 2013
(as amended), by and among the GW, Citibank, N.A., as depositary, and all holders and beneficial owners of GW ADSs issued thereunder and (d) any
applicable withholding taxes), or per ADS Cash Consideration and (2) an amount of Jazz Ordinary Shares equal to 12 times the Share Deliverable.
Scheme Shareholders and holders of GW ADSs became entitled to receive cash in lieu of any fractional Jazz Ordinary Shares to which they would have
otherwise been entitled to in accordance with the Scheme, or per ADS Share deliverable. In connection with the Transaction, 3,798,105 Jazz Ordinary
Shares were issued to such Scheme Shareholders.

In addition, from the Effective Time, all options to purchase GW ADSs or GW Ordinary Shares, as applicable, or GW Options, that were then
held by GW employees (other than those GW Options granted in 2021, or 2021 Options) and GW non-employee members of the GW board of directors,
vested, (with any performance goals deemed fully satisfied as of the Effective Time) exercised automatically and were cash-settled. Each 2021 Option
vested, exercised automatically and was cash-settled as to one-third of the grant at the Effective Time. With respect to the GW Options and one-third of
the 2021 Options, the holders received, in full satisfaction of their rights in respect of such share options, total cash consideration of $250.5 million.

The remaining two-thirds of the 2021 Options converted into an option to acquire Jazz Ordinary Shares, or Jazz Options (with any performance
goals deemed fully satisfied as of the Effective Time and, therefore, converting into time vesting Jazz Options), half of which will vest on the first
anniversary of the original grant date and half of which will vest on the second anniversary of the original grant date, subject to accelerated vesting in
connection with qualifying terminations of employment. The number of Jazz Ordinary Shares subject to each converted Jazz Option was determined by
multiplying the number of GW ADSs subject to the 2021 Option by an exchange ratio of 1.323934, calculated in accordance with the Transaction
Agreement, and the option exercise price of any converted Jazz Option was determined by dividing the 2021 Option exercise price by the same
exchange ratio.

Jazz used the proceeds from the Term Loan and the Notes to partially fund the cash payable under the Acquisition.

 
2. Basis of presentation

The Pro Forma Financial Information set forth herein is based upon Jazz’s historical consolidated financial statements and GW’s historical
consolidated financial statements. The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared to illustrate the effects of the Acquisition, including the
financing arrangements effected to partially fund the Acquisition, as if it had occurred on January 1, 2020 in respect of the Pro Forma Statement of
Operations, and as if it had occurred on March 31, 2021 in respect of the Pro Forma Balance Sheet.

The Pro Forma Financial Information is presented for informational purposes only, it does not purport to represent what the actual consolidated
results of operations or the consolidated financial position of the combined entity would have been had the Acquisition occurred on the dates indicated,
nor is it necessarily indicative of the combined company’s financial position or results of operations that would have been realized had the Acquisition
occurred as of the dates indicated, nor is it meant to be indicative of any anticipated combined financial position or future results of operations that the
combined company will experience after the completion of the Acquisition.

The transaction will be accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805. Jazz
will be treated as the accounting acquirer, and accordingly, the GW assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been adjusted based on preliminary
estimates of fair value, which are subject to change. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identified assets acquired and liabilities
assumed will be recognized as goodwill.
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Jazz’s and GW’s consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S.
GAAP.

The estimated income tax impacts of the pre-tax adjustments that are reflected in the Pro Forma Financial Information are calculated using an
estimated blended statutory rate, which is based on preliminary assumptions related to the jurisdictions in which the income (expense) adjustments will
be recorded. The estimated blended statutory rate and the effective tax rate of the combined company could be significantly different depending on the
post-acquisition activities and geographical mix of profit before taxes.

 
3. Reclassifications

The classification of certain items presented by GW has been modified in order to align with the presentation used by Jazz. Modifications to GW’s
historical consolidated statement of operations presentation include:
 

 •  Separate presentation of intangible asset amortization totaling $1.2 million and $0.3 million previously included within selling, general and
administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the three months ended March 31, 2021, respectively.

 

 •  Presentation of interest income totaling $1.8 million and $0.1 million within interest expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2020
and the three months ended March 31, 2021, respectively.

 
4. Purchase price allocation

The transaction will be accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Under
this method, the GW assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been recorded based on preliminary estimates of fair value. In accordance with U.S.
GAAP, Jazz measures fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.

The purchase price allocation, or PPA, in this Pro Forma Financial information is based upon the value of the consideration transferred as of
May 5, 2021.

The purchase price is calculated as follows (all amounts in thousands except ADS and per GW ADS amounts):
 
GW ADS outstanding May 5, 2021    31,556,200 
Cash consideration per GW ADS   $ 200 
Equity consideration per GW ADS   $ 20 

    
 

Total cash consideration to GW ADS holders   $ 6,311,240 (i) 
Cash consideration to GW share option holders    267,450 (i) 

    
 

Total cash consideration    6,578,690 
Equity consideration to GW ADS holders    608,456 (ii) 
Consideration related to replacement share option pre-combination service    3,555 (iii) 

    
 

Total equity consideration    612,011 
    

 

Total purchase consideration   $ 7,190,701 
    

 

 

 

i. The total cash consideration was calculated based on the GW ADSs outstanding as of May 5, 2021, and the cash consideration due to
holders of $200 per GW ADS plus the cash outflow to GW share option holders that was paid via payroll together with related payroll
taxes. Jazz utilized proceeds from the maturity of short-term deposits, classified as investments on its balance sheet as of March 31, 2021,
to partially fund the total cash consideration.

 

 
ii. 3.8 million Jazz Ordinary Shares were issued to satisfy the ADS Share Deliverable. The closing price of Jazz Ordinary Shares on May 4,

2021 ($160.20) was used to determine the fair value of this equity consideration because the closing of the Acquisition on May 5, 2021
occurred prior to the opening of regular trading.

 

 
iii. A portion of the fair value of the 2021 Options that were converted to Jazz Options and will vest over a period equal to two years from the

original grant date was also included within the total equity consideration. The portion of the fair value of GW’s equity awards attributable
to pre-combination service that was assumed by Jazz upon completion of the Acquisition amounted to $3.6 million (see note 6 (iv)).
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The acquisition consideration for pro forma purposes represents the total purchase consideration at the closing of the Acquisition of
$7.2 billion. Under the acquisition method of accounting, identifiable assets and liabilities of GW, including identifiable intangible assets,
were recorded based on their estimated fair values as of the Closing Date.

The fair value of the net assets acquired, assuming the acquisition of GW had closed on March 31, 2021 are as follows (in
thousands):

 

   

Estimated fair
values of assets
acquired and

liabilities assumed 
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 378,144 
Accounts receivable    84,947 
Inventory    1,200,254  (vi) 
Prepaid expenses    45,315 
Property, plant and equipment    149,591 
Intangible assets    5,640,0008  (v) 
Goodwill    929,003  (iv) 
Deferred tax assets/liabilities    (1,068,959) (vii) 
Other assets/liabilities    (167,594) 

    
 

Total purchase consideration   $ 7,190,701 
    

 

Generally, changes to the initial estimates of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed within a one-year measurement
period from the acquisition date will be recorded as adjustments to those assets and liabilities and residual amounts will be allocated to
goodwill, which could be material. Except as discussed below, the carrying value of GW’s assets and liabilities are considered to
approximate their fair values.

 

 iv. The goodwill balance arising from the Acquisition is estimated to be $929.0 million. The goodwill has been calculated as the excess of the
purchase consideration of $7.2 billion over the fair value of the net assets acquired of $6.3 billion.

 

 
v. The fair value of GW’s intangible assets is estimated to be $5,640.0 million. The intangible assets include acquired developed

technologies, primarily related to Epidiolex®, and in-process research and development, or IPR&D, for which the preliminary fair value
estimates have been determined using the income approach.

The fair value and weighted average estimated useful life of identifiable intangible assets are estimated as follows (in thousands):
 

   Fair Value   

Weighted
average

estimated useful
life

(in years)    
Annual

Amortization 
Acquired developed technologies   $5,480,000   12    $ 465,783
IPR&D    160,000   Not amortized    —   

    
 

     
 

Total acquired identifiable intangible assets    5,640,000     465,783
Less: GW’s historical net book value of intangible assets    (5,271)    

    
 

   

Adjustment to intangible assets, net   $5,634,729    
    

 

   

Based on the estimated respective fair values of identified intangible assets and the weighted average estimated useful lives, an adjustment
to amortization expense of $464.6 million and $116.1 million has been included in the Pro Forma Statement of Operations for the year
ended December 31, 2020 and the three months ended March 31, 2021, respectively, being the annual amortization charge (or portion of
the annual amortization charge for the three months ended March 31, 2021) above less $1.2 million and $0.3 million amortization of
intangible assets expensed by GW in the year ended December 31, 2020 and the three months ended March 31, 2021, respectively. The
related estimated net decrease to income tax expense for the Pro Forma Statement of Operations is $88.3 million and $22.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020 and the three months ended March 31, 2021, respectively. This adjustment will recur for the life of the
underlying assets.
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vi. The fair value of GW’s inventory, which includes raw materials, work in progress and finished goods, is estimated to be $1,200.3 million,
which represents an uplift of $1,062.6 million on the book value of $137.6 million. The fair value adjustment relates only to work in
progress and finished goods. The inventory was valued at estimated selling price less the estimated costs to be incurred to complete (in the
case of work in progress) and sell the inventory, the associated margins on these activities and holding costs. The step up in the fair value
of inventory is expected to increase cost of goods sold in the twelve-month period post-close and subsequent three-month period by
$306.0 million and $79.4 million, respectively, as the inventory is sold. The related estimated net decrease to income tax expense for the
Pro Forma Statement of Operations is $61.4 million and $15.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the three months ended
March 31, 2021, respectively. The remaining step up in the fair value of inventory is expected to increase cost of goods sold in subsequent
periods as the inventory is sold.

 

 

vii. The deferred and current income tax impact of acquisition accounting adjustments primarily relates to the estimated fair value of the net
deferred tax liability of $1,069.0 million, which represents an adjustment of $1,089.7 million. This adjustment comprises of
$1,070.6 million in relation to the fair value uplift on intangible assets and $205.2 million in relation to the fair value uplift on inventory,
offset by acquired net operating losses and temporary differences. The tax impact of acquisition accounting also includes a prepaid tax
asset of $7.3 million related to tax credits available to offset future tax liabilities and a reserve established for uncertain tax positions of
$2.6 million.

 
5. Financing

Jazz used the net proceeds from the Term Loan and the Notes, together with cash on hand, to fund the cash consideration payable in connection
with the Acquisition, the refinancing of certain of our indebtedness and fees and expenses in connection with the Acquisition. Details of borrowings
under the Credit Agreement and the Notes are as follows:
 

 •  a seven-year $3.1 billion Dollar Term Loan and a seven-year €625.0 million Euro Term Loan ($750.0 million equivalent);
 

 •  the Notes with an initial aggregate principal amount of $1.5 billion which will mature in 2029; and
 

 •  a five-year $500.0 million Revolving Credit Facility. The Revolving Credit Facility was undrawn at the closing of the Acquisition.

Current and non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings have been adjusted as follows based on the sources of funding described above (in
thousands):
 
   

Financing
Adjustments  

Proceeds from the Dollar Term Loan   $3,100,000 
Proceeds from the Euro Term Loan    750,000 
Proceeds from the Notes    1,500,000 

    
 

Total sources of funding    5,350,000 
Debt issuance costs    (151,544) (i) 

    
 

Total sources of funding, net of debt issuance costs    5,198,456 
Repayment of Existing Term Loan    (575,921) 
Elimination of historical Jazz unamortized debt issuance costs    2,297  (ii) 

    
 

Net change in debt   $4,624,832 
    

 

Presented as:   
Current portion of debt adjustment   $ (10,137) (iii) 
Non-current portion of debt adjustment   $4,634,969  (iv) 
 

 

i. In relation to the Term Loan, the Notes and the Revolving Credit Facility, total estimated debt issuance costs amount to $122.8 million,
$28.7 million and $10.8 million, respectively. None of these costs were included in the Jazz balance sheet at March 31, 2021. The debt
issuance costs associated with the Term Loan and the Notes were capitalized and presented net within debt on issuance. The debt issuance
costs associated with the Revolving Credit Facility were capitalized and presented within deferred financing costs.
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ii. Jazz’s unamortized debt issuance costs related to the Existing Term Loan and the undrawn revolving credit facility under the Existing
Credit Agreement, or the Existing Revolving Credit Facility, at March 31, 2021 were $2.3 million and $4.6 million, respectively. The
unamortized costs of $2.3 million relating to the Existing Term Loan was treated as a loss on extinguishment of debt and $1.4 million of
the unamortized costs relating to the undrawn Existing Revolving Credit Facility was treated as a loss on modification of debt, both were
eliminated in the Pro Forma Financial Information. The remaining $3.2 million of unamortized costs relating to the Existing Revolving
Credit Facility is included as a modification and is within deferred financing costs at March 31, 2021 and will be amortized in line with the
new Revolving Credit Facility.

 

 iii. The current portion of the debt adjustment is comprised of the proceeds from the Term Loan that will be due to be repaid within the first 12
months after issuance, offset by the current portion of the Existing Term Loan, which was $33.4 million at March 31, 2021.

 

 
iv. The non-current portion of the debt adjustment is comprised of the proceeds of the Term Loan that will be due to be repaid after the first 12

months after issuance and the Notes, net of debt issuance costs, offset by the non-current portion of the Existing Term Loan, which was
$542.5 million at March 31, 2021.

 

 

v. The interest rate on the Term Loan and the Notes is disclosed below. A hypothetical change in the weighted-average interest rate of 12.5
basis points on floating rate debt would increase or decrease total interest expense related to the variable-rate financing for the Pro Forma
Statement of Operations by approximately $4.8 million. In addition to incremental cash interest charges, Jazz has also recorded a pro
forma adjustment for debt issuance cost amortization for each facility, which will be deferred and amortized over the duration of the
borrowings.

Total interest expense adjustment is as follows (in thousands, except for the interest rate):
 

   
Average
principal    Interest rate*  

Interest expense for
year ended

December 31, 2020   

Interest expense for
three months ended

March 31, 2021  
The Dollar Term Loan   $3,100,000    4.000%  $ 123,613  $ 30,716
The Euro Term Loan    750,000    4.390%   32,925   8,231
The Notes    1,500,000    4.375%   65,625   16,406
Elimination of interest on Existing Term Loan       (12,357)   (2,195) 
Elimination of interest on Existing Revolving Credit Facility       (1,581)   —   
Debt issuance cost amortization:       
The Dollar Term Loan       12,765   3,534
The Euro Term Loan       2,936   830
The Notes       3,054   924
Revolving Credit Facility (including commitment fee)       5,287   1,322
Elimination of deferred financing cost amortization and loss on
extinguishment on Existing Term Loan       1,189   (276) 
Elimination of deferred financing cost amortization, commitment
fee and loss on modification on Existing Revolving Credit Facility       (4,601)   (1,570) 

       
 

   
 

Total interest expense adjustment      $ 228,855  $ 57,922
       

 

   

 

 

 * Interest rate in effect as of June 30, 2021
 

 vi. The related estimated net decrease to income tax expense for the Pro Forma Statement of Operations is $50.2 million and $9.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2020 and the three months ended March 31, 2021, respectively.
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6. Other transaction accounting adjustments
 

 

i. It has been estimated that total transaction and related costs of $209.3 million will be incurred collectively by Jazz and GW in connection
with the transaction, these have been presented in the Pro Forma Statement of Operations within selling, general and administrative
expenses. These costs include advisory, legal, valuation and other professional fees, and a six year prepaid “tail policy” for directors’ and
officers’ insurance, of which $25.2 million was incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2021. These costs will not have a
continuing impact on the results of the combined company.

 

 

ii. The total estimated transaction and related costs of $209.3 million are attributable as follows: Jazz $112.4 million and GW $96.9 million,
of which $8.3 million and $16.9 million, respectively, were incurred as of March 31, 2021. Therefore, an adjustment of $100.8 million
related to the Jazz costs (net of an estimated tax benefit of $3.3 million) has been presented in the Pro Forma Balance Sheet as a reduction
to cash and cash equivalents and income taxes payable with a corresponding reduction to retained earnings to represent the estimated
future charge. An adjustment of $80.0 million related to the GW costs has been presented in the Pro Forma Balance Sheet as a reduction to
cash and cash equivalents with a corresponding increase to goodwill as these transaction costs will reduce GW’s retained earnings prior to
the consummation of the Acquisition.

 

 

iii. In order to retain and incentivize certain of GW’s executives through the closing of the transaction and during an important integration
period thereafter, GW agreed that the executive officers would be eligible to receive incentive bonuses totaling $17.9 million (including
applicable employer taxes of approximately $0.3 million). The transition incentive bonuses will be payable in a lump sum within 30 days
following December 31, 2021 subject to the executive’s continued employment with Jazz, or, if earlier, within 30 days following the
executive’s death, permanent disability or a qualifying termination under the applicable GW severance plan and the executive’s applicable
participation agreement, subject to the execution of a release of claims against GW. Jazz expects that the employment of certain executives
will be terminated at or near the end of the integration period subject to the continued employment with Jazz through the date of
termination. The aggregate value of the cash severance payments GW’s executive officers will receive is $8.9 million (including applicable
employer taxes of approximately $0.1 million), based on compensation and benefit levels in effect as of the closing of the Acquisition. In
addition Jazz expects to pay retention bonuses to certain key employees in order to further assist in the integration efforts following the
Closing Date. The majority of these retention payments will be payable one year from the Closing Date and the total estimated payment is
approximately $24.8 million (including applicable employer taxes of approximately $1.6 million). An adjustment of $1.1 million,
$42.3 million and $8.2 million is reflected in cost of product sales, selling, general and administrative and research and development costs,
respectively, in the Pro Forma Statement of Operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 with a corresponding income tax
impact of $2.3 million. These costs will not have a continuing impact on the results of the combined company.

 

 iv. Upon closing of the Acquisition, each outstanding GW Option and one-third of the 2021 Options, to the extent unvested, was deemed to be
fully vested and was exercised automatically and cash-settled.

The remaining two-thirds of the 2021 Options ceased to represent a right to acquire the GW ADSs and was converted automatically into
an option to acquire a Jazz Option, half of which will vest on the first anniversary of the original grant date and half of which will vest on
the second anniversary of the original grant date, subject to accelerated vesting in connection with qualifying terminations of employment.
For further information on the number of 2021 Options converted to Jazz Options please refer to Note 1.

As the GW Options and one-third of the 2021 Options that were exercised automatically on close of the Acquisition were subject to a
preexisting change in control provision, the amount of the cash settlement totaling $250.5 million, which equals the fair value of the
option, has been included as part of the consideration transferred to GW. The consideration transferred also includes the related payroll tax
liability totaling $17.0 million that became due and payable upon consummation of the Acquisition as a result of the preexisting change in
control provision. The adjustment is reflected as a decrease to cash and cash equivalents and a corresponding increase to goodwill.

For the 2021 Options that converted to Jazz Options, the portion of the awards that has been included as part of the consideration
transferred totaling $3.6 million has been determined by multiplying the fair value of the award by the requisite service period that elapsed
prior to the Acquisition divided by the total service period. The adjustment is reflected as an increase in goodwill and a corresponding
increase in additional paid-in-capital. The estimated portion of the Jazz Options attributable to post-combination services will result in
additional compensation expense of $54.1 million as the future services are provided. An adjustment of $1.6 million, $26.9 million and
$8.0 million is reflected in cost of product sales, selling, general and administrative and research and development costs,
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respectively, for the portion of this additional compensation expense that will be recorded over the first 12 months subsequent to the
Acquisition. An adjustment of $0.4 million, $3.4 million and $1.6 million is reflected in cost of product sales, selling, general and
administrative and research and development costs, respectively, for the portion of this additional compensation expense that will be
recorded over the following three months following the first 12 months subsequent to the Acquisition. The related estimated net decrease
to income tax expense for the Pro Forma Statement of Operations is $5.6 million and $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020
and three months ended March 31, 2021, respectively. This adjustment will not have a continuing impact on the combined company once
the post-combination service period has elapsed.

Additionally, due to the preexisting change in control provision discussed above, GW recorded an additional $81.3 million of previously
unrecognized compensation cost related to original awards outstanding prior to the consummation of the Acquisition due to the reduction
in the requisite service period upon the change in control. An adjustment of $3.2 million, $59.9 million and $18.2 million is reflected in
cost of product sales, selling, general and administrative and research and development costs, respectively, in the Pro Forma Statement of
Operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 with a corresponding income tax impact of $17.0 million. These costs will not have a
continuing impact on the results of the combined company. The net cost has been shown as an increase to additional paid-in-capital and a
corresponding decrease to retained earnings in the Pro Forma Balance Sheet.

 
7. Loss per share

The weighted average number of Jazz Ordinary Shares used in computing basic loss per share has been calculated using the weighted average
number of Jazz Ordinary Shares issued and outstanding during the applicable periods and the 3.8 million Jazz Ordinary Shares issued to GW ADS
holders on the Closing Date. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Jazz pro forma basic loss per share was calculated using 59.5 million weighted
average shares, which reflects the 55.7 million weighted average of Jazz Ordinary Shares issued and outstanding for the period and the 3.8 million Jazz
Ordinary Shares issued to GW ADS holders on the Closing Date. For the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Jazz pro forma basic loss per share
was calculated using 60.3 million weighted average shares, which reflects the 56.5 million weighted average of Jazz Ordinary Shares issued and
outstanding for the period and the 3.8 million Jazz Ordinary Shares issued to GW ADS holders on the Closing Date. As Jazz is in a net loss position on a
pro forma basis and all potentially dilutive securities of Jazz are anti-dilutive, the diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share.
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